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Financial Highlights
Financial Highlights - 2010 with comparatives
Amounts in Sri Lanka Rupees			

Description

2010		

2009

Results for the year			
Gross Income
153,993,181		
			
Profit / (Loss) before taxation
(27,684,091)
Provision for taxation
(55,525)
Profit / (Loss) after taxation
(27,739,616)
			
As at year end			
Shareholders fund
3,519,170,644		
Total Assets
4,873,214,050
			
Stated Capital
1,356,078,570
Net Asset Value
3,519,170,644
Earning / (Loss) per share (Rs.)
(0.37)
Share Price
Highest during the year
23.90		
Lowest during the year
9.25		
Last Traded Price
16.80		

499,567,765
95,426,954
(662,589)
94,764,365

3,546,910,260
4,978,016,090
1,356,078,570
3,546,910,260
1.28
13.25
8.50
9.50

Vision
“To be recognized as the premier property management Company in Sri
Lanka which provides an excellent service to its tenants”.

Mission
“We are dedicated to controlling costs while maintaining the highest levels
of satisfaction and comfort to our tenants by responding to their unique
requirements and special requests. We listen to them, and then develop a
plan and structure that fits their goals, budgets and needs.
We immaculately upkeep our properties to the highest quality standards by
deploying our team of highly trained professionals”.
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Chairman’s Review

Despite this continuous adverse
market situation mainly in the
first half of the year and with the
decline in the rental market we have
managed to maintain our rental
income and have achieved a 2%
increase in the apartment rental
income.
Further with the continuous increase
in demand for ‘office space’, we plan
to have general upward revision
of rentals next year by having
discussion with the current tenants.

It is with great pleasure that we present this Annual
Report to you on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Seylan Developments PLC. We appreciate your faith
and confidence during the good and difficult times
of the Company. The year 2010 marks the first full
year since peace was ushered to Sri Lanka. This is a
tremendous victory which is commended by the entire
nation. Economic growth is evident, stock market
performance is at and high. At a time much needed
infrastructure growth in the North and East of Sri Lanka
has commenced as well as in other main cities of
the country. These opportunities are tapped by many
businesses.
The apartment and property development market in
the Western province has been given a new impetus.
The residential property sector in Colombo was
flushed with the many new condominiums which
focused at the elite market segment of Sri lanka. With
lower interest rates, the much anticipated boom in the
property market is yet to reach it's peak due to foreign
expatriates being affected by the global financial crisis.
Despite this continuous adverse market situation
mainly in the first half of the year and with the decline
in the rental market we have managed to maintain our
rental income and have achieved a 2% increase in the
apartment rental income.
2

Change of Management
There were changes made to the Management during
the second half of the year with new appointments
being made both at the board level and the senior
managerial level with a view to streamline operation
and for ensuring good corporate governance.
The key Management officers with professionalism and
commitment have been seconded by Seylan Bank to
manage the affairs of the Company. And since then,
the Company is going through a restructuring process,
with the objective of managing the Company's
finances, incorporating good governance and
corporate practices in order to turn around the
Company. The complete profile of new Management
is included in this Annual Report.
This Annual report 2010 also includes new reports
such as Management Review, Corporate Governance
report Risk Management Report, Sustainability
report, Value Added statement etc to comply with the
requirements of Companies Act No 7 of 2007 and
other regulatory authorities disclosure rules, etc.

Seylan Towers
Seylan Towers still remains one of the company's
valuable and performing assets. We succeeded in
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Chairman’s Review
increasing the rental income from existing tenants of
the apartment complex as part of the restructuring
process and improved collection process. Further
with the continuous increase in demand for ‘office
space', we plan to have general upward revision of
rentals next year by having discussion with the current
tenants.

Concluded Project developments
Among the many projects funded and developed by
the Company, the Moratuwa and Ja-Ela Projects are
under management review now since we foresee a
possibility of generating revenue for the company
in the years ahead. Further there is a property held,
at Union place which the Management intends to
dispose soon with a view to generating cash to reduce
debt.

Financial Performance
Our main source of income i.e rental income
has slightly increased to Rs 143.16 Mn from
Rs 139.75 Mn last year. However we report a net loss
after taxes of Rs 27.74 Mn for the year under review
2010. This is due to making provisions relating to
Ceylinco group exposure that had to be made this year
in accordance with the Sri lanka Accounting standards.
Despite the provision, steps will be taken to recover
these dues before finally writing off of such expenses
completely. These decisions were taken to clear all
outstanding matters and to start fresh in the year 2011.

Looking forward
As your Company is in the process of strengthening its
financial position, we anticipate a good financial year
ahead. We may have to adopt growth strategies to tap
the new market opportunities.
We are confident that with the current assistance from
Seylan Bank and with the new strategic approach,
your company will post better results in the year 2011.
When the Company does well, the benefit percolates
down to all its stakeholders.
In conclusion we thank the Management and staff
for their hard work and performance under trying
conditions. we also wish to express my gratitude to the
Board of Directors for their continued support. Finally,
we thank all our tenants for their continued business
partnerships and shareholders for their confidence
placed towards the success of the Company.

.................................
	R Nadarajah
Chairman
		
18th February 2011
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR / Acting GENERAL MANAGER's REVIEW

The new Management had to
implement strategic decisions
by having regular meetings to
bring the organization back
on track.
Our primary objective was to
ensure that the main building
is fully functional to serve
our tenants efficiently and
effectively.

I warmly welcome you all to the 19th Annual General
Meeting being held today and I would like to offer
our sincere gratitude to our valuable shareholders
who have been with us all these years. I should say
that your loyalty and confidence in the Company
encouraged us to thrive in difficult environment.
At the request of the Board of Directors of Seylan
Developments PLC, I took over the Management
of the Company as its Executive Director/Acting
General Manager in October 2010. I wholeheartedly
accepted this position with the determination to make
a difference in the organization.
The Board members are working voluntarily dedicating
their time to serve the Company. On behalf of the staff
and shareholders, We thank and respect them for their
timely intervention to this corporate entity from any
reputational and financial risk.
The Company's operation of property development
projects was hindered due to external factors. The
Company was involved in many unprofitable projects
with irrecoverable receivables that lead to a vicious
cycle due to heavy financial debt those were reported in
our previous annual reports. We took up this challenge
and have brought in good financial monitoring and
follow-up on the receivables and realization of idle
assets. On the other hand, the Company had financial
stresses due to cash flow constraints.
4

First Step Towards Recovery
The new Management had to implement strategic
decisions by having regular meetings to bring the
organization back on track.
Our primary objective was to ensure that the main
building is fully functional to serve our tenants
efficiently and effectively. We also strive to keep
the motivation levels of our staff at all time. The
staff has been motivated and their performance has
increased in the year 2010 under leadership of the
new Management. Thereby, we were able to take
charge of the operations of the Company to run it with
smoothly.
We determined to concentrate on the building that
houses Seylan Bank, the Apartment Complex, and
the staff being the main pillars of our Company and
strengthened them by minimizing operational wastage,
risk and with maximized efficiency.
The Board of Directors worked out a strategy to
enhance the credit lines from its main Banker. Further,
1.

Arrangements were made to settle outstanding
statutory dues.

2.

Settlement of project loans and arrangement to
reschedule credit facilities with the financiers.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR / Acting GENERAL MANAGER's REVIEW
3.

Completed payments of service level agreements
of the main tower ensuring continued efficient
operation.

4.

The Board sub committees for Audit and
Remuneration have been reconstituted to
look into compliance requirements of the
Company.

To the employees of the Company, I sincerely thank
you for your cooperation extended for implementation
of the strategies of the organization and expect your
continued support in the years ahead. I appreciate
any innovative ideas of all for the betterment of the
Company.

Year 2011 Forward

Speaking of the future we look into all legalities
with a view to realizing the assets early. We are
also analyzing all options to get better return on our
investment on the Union Place property with the
core objective that the Company achieves profits
by reducing its interest bearing debt and build cash
reserve.

Total Cost

800000

Total Income
700000
600000

VALUE

The Company's strategy for 2011 is to divert focus
from property development to property management
for a short period. This is embedded also in the vision
and mission statement of our Company.
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Appreciations
I would conclude by thanking the Chairman and
the Board of Directors of the Company and the
Management at Seylan Bank PLC for their immense
support given to streamline operations in a short span
of time. I also wish to note the support extended by all
our financiers specially the Banks.

........................................
K Rathnayaka
Director / Acting General Manager
18th February 2011

5

Seylan Developments PLC

Annual Report 2010

Board of Directors
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Board of Directors

1.

Mr R Nadarajah

–

Chairman

2.

Mr S R Wijesinghe

–

Deputy Chairman

3.

Mr H L Gunasekara

–

Director

4.

Mr S Palihawadana

–

Director

5.

Mr V R De Silva

–

Director

6.

Mr C Kotigala

–

Director

7.

Mr K Rathnayaka

–

Executive Director / Acting General Manager
7

Seylan Developments PLC

Annual Report 2010

Directors’ Profile
MR R NADARAJAH

MR H L GUNASEKARA

Chairman

Director

B.Sc(Hons), MBA, FCIB (London)
Mr Hiran Lal Gunasekera was appointed to the
Appointed as Director of Seylan Developments PLC

Board in the year 2006. His contribution to the

on 11th September 2009. Mr Ramanathan Nadarajah

Ceylinco Group counts over 25 years of broad

brings with him 40 years of banking experience in

based experience out of which 15 years has been

both state and private sector Banks. He served as

at a Senior Management position. His expertise in

Managing Director/General Manager/CEO of Pan

Strategic Management, Operational Management &

Asia Bank for six years and previously served at Bank

Administration is farfetched and is complemented

of Ceylon in various capacities including as Deputy

by his proven success in managing and directing

General Manager. He was the inaugural President of

organizations.

the Primary Dealers Association and has been a Past
President of the Association of Professional Bankers

Having been responsible for the revival of collapsed

of Sri Lanka. He also served in the Board of Building

Panadura Finance & Enterprises, now known as

Materials Corporation and MB Financial Services

The Standard Credit Lanka Ltd which was formerly

Limited.

known as Ceylinco Investments & Realty Ltd.
Mr. Gunasekera is a veteran in the financial sector.

Mr Nadarajah was appointed to the Board of Seylan

He held the position of Chief Executive Director/CEO

Bank PLC on 8 January 2009.

at this organization prior to the management of the
company was vested with MBSL Bank. In addition
he is also a Director of Ceylinco Limited which is a

MR S R WIJESINGHE
Deputy Chairman
Dip.B.Admin, FICM
Mr Sanka Wijesinghe's expertise and vast experience
in business, includes the setting up of new ventures
and managing profit centres. Armed with a Diploma
in Business Administration from the University of
Colombo and has followed a General Management
and International Marketing programme at the National
University of Singapore. He is also an associate
member of the Institute of Credit Management, Sri
Lanka and a registered member of the International
Real Estate.
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property development company.
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Directors’ Profile
MR S PALIHAWADANA

MR C KOTIGALA

Director

Director

B.Sc (Colombo), AIB (Part 1)

Attorney-At-Law & Notary Public
Appointed on 11th October 2010

Appointed as a Director of Seylan Developments
PLC on 11th September 2009. Mr. Palihawadana

Attorney at Law and Notary Public having over 27

joined Seylan Bank in 1999 as Chief Manager/Chief

years practice as a Lawyer out of which over 21 years

Dealer. He is the overall in-charge of Treasury Dealing

in banking sector.

activities of Seylan Bank PLC. He has held Positions
as Assistant General Manager/Chief Dealer. At present
he hold the positions Deputy General Manager/

MR K RATHNAYAKA

Chief Dealer/ Head of Primary Dealer Unit and Gold

Executive Director / Acting General Manager

Investment Unit. He counts over 37 years experience

B.Sc (Hon), AMIE (SL)

in the banking industry and 27 years experience in

Appointed on 11th October 2010

Treasury Dealing activities including service at Bank
of Ceylon, Colombo and London Branches. He is a

Mr Kapila Rathnayaka is a Civil Engineer and

Senior Member of Sri Lanka Forex Association.

has graduated from University of Peradeniya. Mr
Rathnayaka brings with his experience in managing
properties and projects.

MR V R DE SILVA
Director

Mr Rathnayaka is the Assistant General Manager of

FCMA, ACA

Premises & Maintenance Department at Seylan Bank

Appointed on 9th June 2010

PLC. Mr Rathnayaka is an associate member of the
Institute of Engineers Sri Lanka.

Over 20 years of Senior Managerial experience
acquired in Sri Lanka and overseas including 4 years
as the Managing Director/CEO of LOLC from 2000
to 2004. During this period, despite the economic
turbulence that prevailed in the country, LOLC was
transformed from a chronically declining organization
into one that achieved highest ever profits.
He holds the position of Chief Financial Officer in
Seylan Bank Plc.
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Management Discussion and Financial Review
Management Changes
Two new Directors and a new Executive Director/
Acting General Manager was appointed during this
year. Mr K Rathnayaka was appointed as the Executive
Director/Acting General Manager in October 2010
and Mr C Kotigala was appointed as a Director of the
Company during the same period of time.
The change of Management took place subsequent to
the resignations and cessation of previous Directors. Mr
M L P Jayathilaka, former Director/General Manager
ceased with effect from 10th October 2010 and
Mr M A D A I Madurapperuma, resigned with effect
from 7th April 2010.
Projects and Future plans
The Management will focus mainly on property
management and projects. The Company hopes to
realise some cashflows from the concluded projects
located at Moratuwa and Ja-ela. In addition, the
Company is evaluating the best options on the Union
place property to gain additional revenue.

provisions made). The cost savings are from Personnel
cost (55%) and Administration cost (78%)
Looking at the capital structure of the Company,
the Company is still heavily geared; gearing/equity
percentage still stands at 59% compared to 58% last
year, which is quite high compared to the industry.
The Board of Directors have formulated strategies to
overcome this debt burden.
Further, as part of the restructuring process, the
Company has set strict monthly cashflow budgets
where individual departments are responsible to
generate cash instead of depending on debt finance.
On the income side, there was a marginal 2% increase
in rental income. The occupancy rate at Seylan Towers
was nearly 100% at year end. 87.5% occupancy rate
at West Tower and 100% occupancy at East Tower.
The nature of East tower comprises of local tenants
whereas the West tower comprises of all non resident
tenants.

Occupancy percentage in Seylan Towers
100
80
60

%

2010

40

2009

20
0
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East

Seylan Towers

TURNOVER
‘000
800000
700000

The Company's yearly financial position concluded a
net loss of Rs 27.7 Mn in 2010. This is mainly due to
high provisions made on account of non recoverability
of certain receivables. However, the main overheads
have reduced to a significant amount. This is clearly
seen in the income statement where there is an overall
60% reduction in operating overheads (except the
10
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Risk Management REPORT
Introduction

Business Risk

In the backdrop of increasing corporate failures locally
as well as internationally and increasing financial and
other challenges, organizations cannot afford to ignore
or neglect risks anymore. This is why risk management
has become an integral part of our business and the
management.

Changes in the supply and demand ration in property
market and other factors such as depressing property
values, meeting multiple demands of the tenants,
changes to the laws relating to property development,
stamp duty, income tax and capital gains tax could
adversely affect the profitability and viability of the
business.

Risks are identified within a formal risk management
process, which defines risk areas and includes a risk
scoring methodology based on the assessed impact
of the risk event and likelyhood of its occurrence.
The principal risks thus identified are considered and
reviewed continuously at various stages within our
business process.

We are extremely cautious when selecting tenants
to our apartments. We enter into a comprehensive
and clear agreement to ensure that communication
gaps and disputes are minimized to a great extent.
We also maintain close and meaningful relationships
with relevant government and local authorities and
institutions.

Market Risk
A broad definition of market risk covers exposure
to adverse movements in property values and
marketability. The market risks are created by changes
in macro operating environment related to economic
management, political factors, national security,
and globalization influences which in turn have an
impact on systematic risk factors such as interest
rates, inflation and availability of credit which has a
significant direct impact on property business.
Market risks are inherent to our business and due to
the cyclical nature of the real estate business the term
booms and recessions are two words commonly used
in the industry. However having a good mix of fixed
income generating investment properties will reduce
the risk to some extent.

Operational Risk
Operational risks mainly cover the areas of system
failures, continuity of decision making, dealing with
contingencies and ensuring efficiency in operations
and correct application of recommended management
practices. Operational risks are managed by identifying
areas of risk, formulating plans for their management,
promoting best practices, implementing internal
control and systems, and monitoring compliances etc.
The availability of a Business Continuity Plan ensures
that the operation would continue in the event of a
contingency.

11
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Risk Management REPORT (Contd.)
Risk Parameters
Strategic and
other Risk

Market Risk

Organizational Risks
(Risk Register)
Operational
Risk

Risk Management
Risk

Description

Risk Rating

Mitigating Action

Operational Risk
1

Human
Resources Risk

Recruit, develop or retain employees with Moderate
the appropriate skills and knowledge to
manage employee relations.

1. HR Policies and
Procedures
2. Grievance handling
mechanisms
3. Succession and
development plans.

2

Legal and
Regulatory
Compliance
Risk

Comply with the laws of the countries High
where business operations are carried out,
or comply with any regulatory, reporting
or taxation standards, failure to comply
with contracts, or failure of contracts to
protect business interests.

1. Policies & Procedures
Legal Officer function
2. Company Secretary
function
3. Finance function

3

Project
Management
Risk

P l a n c a u s e d b y , p o o r q u a l i t y o f Moderate
infrastructure, cultural differences and
misunderstanding etc.

1. Project Management
2. Financial Planning
3. Expertise in building
and training

4

Climate and
Weather Risk

Loss or damage caused by unusual High
climate conditions, including drought,
heat, flood, cold, storm, winds and
tsunami etc.

1. Insurance
2. Business Continuity
Planning
3. Safety measures

5

Health and
Safety Risk

Threats to personal and health safety of Moderate
staff, tenants and general public.

1. Training
2. Workplace Safety
practice
3. Business Continuity
Planning
4. Employee Insurance

12
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Risk Management REPORT (Contd.)
Risk

Description

Risk Rating

Mitigating Action

Market Risk
1. Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the possibility of High
the company suffering a loss due to
insufficient financial resources at its
disposal, to meet its obligations, as and
when they fall due.

1. Cash flow management
2. Funding arrangements
3. Budget
4. Arrangements

2. Interest Rate Risk Interest Rate Risk is the possibility of Moderate
adverse effects due to interest rate
movements.

1. Cash flow
management
2. Pre Funding
arrangements

3. Foreign
Exchange Risk

1. Cash flow
management
2. Contracts &
agreements

Forex is the risk that a company may Low
suffer losses as a result of adverse
exchange rate movements.

13

Seylan Developments PLC

Annual Report 2010

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
Statement of Corporate Governance
With the recent developments in the local and global
business the need to adhere to good governance
practices has been emphasize. Seylan Developments
PLC places a strong emphasis on adopting and
implementing sound practices of good governance.
Transparency, accountability, integrity and high
business ethics which are the core conducts by which
the Corporate Governance mechanism is formulated
in order to effectively direct and govern the Company.
The Company is primarily guided by the Code of Best
Practices on Corporate Governance issued by the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka and
the listing rules of the Colombo Stock Exchange. The
revised listing rules of the Colombo Stock Exchange

became effective from April 2009 and the Company is in
compliance of the said rules as at 31st December 2010.

Board of Directors
Composition and Attendance at Meetings
As at 31st December 2010, the Board of Directors
of the Company consisted of 7 members. Three new
Directors were appointed to the Board during the year,
bringing the total number of Directors to 7. The names
and the profiles of the Directors is given on pages
8 to 9.
The Board meets once a month and the names of the
Directors and their attendance at meetings during the
financial year under review were as follows;

The attendance of the Directors at the Board meeting held during the year is given below.
Name of the Director
Category
Eligible to attend
Attended
				
Rear Admiral B A J G Peiris
Non - Executive
3
3
(Resigned on 7th April 2010)
Mr S R Wijesinghe
		

Executive (Up to 30th
10
10
September 2010)			

Mr M A D A I Madurapperuma
(Resigned on 7th April 2010)

Non - Executive

3

3

Mr M L P Jayatilaka
(Ceased from 10th October 2010)

Executive

7

4

Mr R Nadarajah

Non - Executive

10

8

Mr S Palihawadana

Non - Executive

10

8

Mr H L Gunasekara

Non - Executive

10

5

Mr V R de Silva
(Appointed on 09th June 2010)

Non - Executive

6

6

Mr C Kotigala
(Appointed on 11th October 2010)

Non - Executive

3

2

Mr K Rathnayaka
(Appointed on 11th October 2010)

Executive

3

3

There were no Independent Directors as at 31st December 2010.
All Directors on the Board as at 31st December 2010 are Non-Executive Directors except Mr K Rathnayaka
(Executive Director/Acting General Manager). The Board conducts its meetings in a manner that the Board is in
control of the affairs of the Company and remains sensitive to the obligations of all its stakeholders. The Board
ensures that there is a participation of all Directors in their deliberations.
14
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Contd.)
Role and Responsibility of the Board
The Board is collectively responsible for the
formulation of overall business policies, strategies and
for monitoring efficient and effective implementation
at the Company's vision, goals and values. The Board
also bears the final responsibility for maintaining the
integrity of financial information and the effectiveness
of the Company's internal management and risk
control. Thereby, its functions include compliance
with applicable laws and regulations, review of the
management and operational information, adoption
of annual and interim accounts before they are
published, review of exposure to key business risks,
strategic direction of operational and management
units, approval of annual budgets, monitoring progress
towards achieving those budgets and sanctioning
major capital expenditure and acquisition of assets.
The Board is supported by the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and the Company's
Management. The Board has also appointed a
Executive Director/Acting General Manager who
has assumed duties effective from 11th October
2010, He will also function as an Executive Director
to drive the Management affairs of the Company
in an effective manner. These internal structures
provide a regular forum for monitoring effectiveness
ensuring the efficiency of the Board's performance.
In its governance of the Company's affairs, the Board
strives to balance the interests of the Company, its
shareholders, employees and stakeholders.
The Board is ultimately responsible, for the Company's
financial performance.

to determine whether he or she has a potential or
actual conflict arising from any external involvements
or interests, other than being the Directors or key
Managerial personnel of Seylan Bank PLC.
The Board is of the collective opinion that the
majority of Directors, are Non-Executive and
independent of the management of the Company and
free from any business or other relationship that could
materially interfere in the exercise of their judgment.
Four Non - Executive Directors represent Seylan Bank
PLC.

Financial Acumen
The Board includes a Chartered Accountant and
several members who have served in the banking and
financial sectors, who possess the necessary acumen
and knowledge to offer the Board guidance on matters
of finance. The Board of Directors brings a wide
range of local and international expertise needed for
the overall directions, strategies and achievement of
financial objectives of the Company.

Appointments to the Board
The Articles of Association of the Company has
provided the Board with the power to appoint
Directors to the Board. According to the provisions of
the Articles of Association, one fourth of the Directors,
excluding the Chairman and Deputy Chairman retires
and submits them for re-election at every Annual
General Meeting. The retirement of each Director
is determined according to those who have served
the longest period of time in office, since their
appointment or reappointment, as the case may be.

Board Balance and Independence
As at 31st December 2010, the Board comprised 7
members. And 6 are Non-Executive Directors. The
Directors act free of any business or other relationship
with the Company that could materially interfere with
their ability to exercise unfettered and independent
judgment other than being on the Seylan Bank
board or key management personnel of Seylan Bank
PLC. Each Director has a continuing responsibility

The articles also provide that newly appointed
Directors, whether they are appointed to fill a casual
vacancy or to serve as an additional Director, can hold
office only until the Annual General Meeting of the
Company following such an appointment, after which
they must seek re-election.

15

Seylan Developments PLC

Annual Report 2010
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The re-election of a Director safeguard the right of the
shareholder by providing for a regular reassessment
of the composition of the Board. The names of the
Directors submitted for re-election are provided to the
shareholders along with notice of the Annual General
Meeting, enables to make informed decisions on such
appointments.

Board Committees
The Board has formally delegated its responsibilities
to Board Committees, which operate within clearly
defined delegated authority.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee consists of three NonExecutive Directors, one of them is a qualified
Chartered Accountant, having extensive experience
in the field of finance. The Committee is chaired by
Mr V R De Silva. A Non-Executive Director. The other
members are Mr C Kotigala and Mr S Palihawadana.
The appointed members are required to exercise
independent judgment in carrying out their functions.
The Committee is responsible for the evaluation,
appointment and reappointment of auditors and
the continuous maintenance of a professional
relationship with them. The Committee further fulfills
the functions of reviewing the internal audit process,
the assessment of the adequacy of internal controls,
accounting policies and adhering and complying
with general principles of accounting. It further
reviews and approvals of the quarterly and annual
Financial Statements, striving to ensure accurate
financial reporting, effective internal control and risk
management.
The Audit Committee held two Meetings during the
last financial year. The report of the Audit Committee
appears on Pages 28 to 29.

the formulation and establishment of remuneration
policies, including reviewing, approving and
recommending to the Board the remuneration of
Directors, Chief Executive Officer and other individuals
who hold key positions in the Senior Management
sector of the Company. The Remuneration Committee
ensures that the levels of remuneration are adequate to
attract, retain and motivate the Senior Management so
that the highest caliber of work may be expected and
commensurate with each individual's performance and
contribution to the Company.
The Report of the Remuneration Committee and the
policy appears on page 30.

Accountability
The Board considers it within their topmost priorities
that complete disclosure of financial and non financial
information is made, within the parameters of realistic
commercial practices. The Board pays great attention
to the adoption of sound and accurate reporting
practices ensuring that an honest and balanced
assessment is presented at all times.
The statement of Director's responsibilities for the
Financial Statements is given on page 44.

Internal Controls
The Board remains committed towards ensuring that
a sound system of internal controls is maintained
in order to safeguard both the shareholder interests
and the assets of the Company. Thus, the Board is
periodically briefed of the reviews conducted by
the Audit Committee, which includes details on the
effectiveness of the Company's systems of internal
controls. Internal audit conducted at regular intervals
strengthen the internal control process and any
significant risks identified in this process are closely
examined by the Audit Committee to ensure that
appropriate action is taken.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee comprises 3 Non
Executive Directors. The Committee is chaired by
Mr C Kotigala. The committee is responsible towards
16
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and operational systems. The responsibility for
implementing and ensuring compliance with the
policies and guidelines are vested with the Executive
Director/Acting General Manager of the Company.

The Board has reviewed the efficiency of the system
for financial controls for the period preceding the date
of signing the accounts.

Shareholder Value and Return
Employees of the Company are carefully selected and
periodically trained to work in a control-conscious
environment. The Board ensures the periodic and
timely reporting to shareholders and complies with all
relevant statutory and regulatory provisions.
The Board confirms that there is an on-going
process for identifying, evaluating and managing any
significant risks faced by the Company.

Rule No
7.10.1(a)

Subject
Non-Executive Directors

The Board strives to enhance shareholder value and
protect the legitimate interests of all its shareholders.

Compliance with the Colombo Stock
Exchange Rules on Corporate Governance
The Company compliance with the rules on corporate
governance of the Colombo Stock Exchange and
the Annual Report contains the relevant affirmative
statement. The table confirming compliance with the
said rules is given below.

Applicable Requirement

Compliance
Status

Details

At least one third of the
total number of Directors
should be Non-Executive
Directors.

Complied.

Refer on page 15.

7.10.2 (c) Independent Directors

Two or one third of
Non-Executive Directors,
whichever is higher,
should be independent.

Will be
rectified shortly.

7.10.2 (d) Independent Directors

Each Non-Executive
Director should
submit a declaration
of independence/non
independence in the
prescribed format.

Complied.

Refer Annual Report
of the Board on the
state of Affairs of
the Company on page
40.

7.10.3 (a) Disclosure relating
to Directors

The Board shall annually
make a determination
as to the independence
of the Non-Executive
Directors and names of
independent Directors
should be disclosed in
the Annual Report.

Complied.

Refer on page 14.
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Rule No

Subject

Applicable Requirement

Compliance
Status

Details

7.10.3 (b) Disclosure relating
to Directors.

The basis for the Board
Since rectified.
to determine a Director
as independent, if
criteria specified for
independence is not met.

7.10.3 (c) Disclosure relating
to Directors.

A brief resume of each
Director should be
included in the Annual
Report and should
include the Director's
areas of expertise.

Complied.

Refer Directors' Profile
on page 8 to 9.

7.10.3 (d) Disclosure relating
to Directors.

Forthwith provide a brief
resume of new Directors
appointed to the Board
with details specified in
7.10.3(a), (b) and (c) to
the rules of the Colombo
Stock Exchange.

Complied.

A brief resume of
new directors and the
appointments were
submitted to the
Colombo Stock
Exchange when such
appointments were
made.

7.10.5

A listed Company shall
have a Remuneration
Committee.

Complied.

Refer on page 30.

Shall comprise of NonExecutive Directors,
at which a majority
of whom shall be
independent.

Will be
rectified shortly.

Remuneration Committee.

7.10.5 (a) Composition of
Remuneration
Committee.

7.10.5 (b) Function of Remuneration The Remuneration
Complied.
Committee
shall
Committee.
recommend the
remuneration of the Chief
Executive Officer and
Executive Directors.
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Remuneration
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on page 30 of this
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Rule No

Subject

7.10.5 (c) Disclosure in the Annual
Report relating to
Remuneration Committee.

7.10.6

Applicable Requirement
The Annual Report
should set out;

Compliance
Status

Details

Complied.

a. Names of Directors
comprising the
Remuneration
Committee.

Refer on page 30.

b. Statement of
remuneration policy.

Refer on page 30.

c. Aggregate
remuneration paid
to Executive & Non
Executive Directors.

Refer Directors'
emoluments on page
61.

Audit Committee.

The Company shall have
an Audit Committee.

Complied.

7.10.6 (a) Composition of
Audit Committee.

Shall comprise of NonExecutive Directors, a
majority of who shall be
independent.

Audit
Committee
consists of 3
non-executive
Directors
but not
independent.

Names of the
members of the Audit
Committee are stated
on pages 28 to 29.

A Non Executive Director Complied.
shall be appointed as
the Chairman of the
Committee Meetings.

Chairman of the Audit
Committee is a NonExecutive Director.

Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial
Officer should attend
Audit Committee
Meetings.

Refer on pages 28 to

Complied.

The Chairman of the
Complied.
Audit Committee or one
member should be a
member of a professional
accounting body.

29.

Chairman of the
Audit Committee is a
Chartered Accountant.
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Rule No

Subject

Applicable Requirement

7.10.6 (b) Audit Committee Functions. Functions shall include;

Compliance
Status
Complied.

Refer on pages 28 to
29 for the functions of
Audit Committee.

Complied.
b. Overseeing of the
compliance with
financial requirements,
information
requirements of
the Companies Act
and other relevant
financial reporting
related regulations and
requirements.

Refer on pages 28 to
29 for the functions of
Audit Committee.

c. Overseeing the process Complied.
to ensure that the
internal controls and
risk management
processes are
adequate to meet the
requirements of the
Sri Lanka Auditing
Standards.

Refer on pages 28 to
29 for the functions of
Audit Committee.

d. Assessment of the
independence and
performance of the
external Auditors.

Complied.

Refer on pages 28 to
29 for the functions of
Audit Committee.

e. Make recommendations Complied.
to the Board pertaining
to appointment, re
appointment and
removal of external
Auditors, and approve
the fees and terms of
engagement of the
external Auditors.

Refer on pages 28 to
29 for the functions of
Audit Committee.

a. Overseeing of
the preparation,
presentation and
adequacy of
disclosures in the
Financial Statements
in accordance with
Sri Lanka Accounting
Standards.
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Rule No

Subject

7.10.6 (c) Disclosure in the Annual
Report relating to Audit
Committee.

Applicable Requirement

Compliance
Status

Details

a. Names of Directors
comprising the Audit
Committee.

Complied.

Refer on pages 28 to
29 for the functions of
Audit Committee.

b. The Audit Committee
shall make a
determination of the
independence of the
Auditors and disclose
the basis for such
determinations.

Complied.

Refer on pages 28 to
29 for the functions of
Audit Committee.

c. The Annual Report
shall contain a
Report of the Audit
Committee setting
out the manner of
compliance with their
functions.

Complied.

Refer on pages 28 to
29 for the functions of
Audit Committee.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE OF BEST PRACTICE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE ISSUED
JOINTLY BY THE SECURITIES & EXCHANGE COMMISSION OF SRI LANKA (SEC) AND THE INSTITUTE
OF CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS OF SRI LANKA (ICASL)

A. Annual Report
Subject & Ref.

Corporate governance Principle

Level of Compliance

Chairman &
CEO
A.2.1 & A.5.6

If Chairman and CEO is one and As outlined earlier, the positions of the Chairman and
the same person, the name of
the CEO have been separated on pages 8 to 9.
the Chairman/CEO and Senior
Independent Director appointed
and justification of the decision to
combine the positions.

Board
Balance A.5.5

Should identify the independent
Non-Executive Directors.

The Board maintains the correct balance of Executive
and Non-Executive Directors. Six of the Seven Directors
on the Board are Non-Executive Directors. But not
independent, as a majority represents the parent
Company.
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Subject & Ref.

Corporate governance Principle

Level of Compliance

Nominations
Committee
A.7.1

The Chairman and members
of the Nomination Committee
should be identified.

Nomination committee will be formed shortly

Appointment
of New
Directors
A.7.3

When new Directors are
appointed, the following details
should be disclosed.

Complied

· a brief résumé of each
Director;

Disclosure of details as required of new appointments to
the Board was informed to the Colombo Stock Exchange
and also in the Annual Report. Profiles of Directors are
given on pages 8 to 9.

· the nature of his expertise in
the relevant functional areas;
· the names of Companies in
which the Director holds
Directorships or memberships
in Board committees; and
· Whether such Director can be
considered independent.
Appraisal
of Board
Performance
A.9.3

Should disclose how performance The Board's performance for 2010 will be evaluated
and evaluations have been
with the appointment of independent Directors shortly
conducted.
by Directors against the following criteria:
· Developing and monitoring implementation of
strategy;
· Level of business and financial acumen,
experience and level of contribution to the Board in
driving business goals and formulating strategy and
policies;
· Management of relations with stakeholders including
Employee relations;
· Ensuring effectiveness of internal control mechanisms;
· Effectiveness of Board subcommittees;
· Discharge of statutory and regulatory duties and other
responsibilities of the Board;
· Corporate governance compliance:
· Re-visiting Human Resources and Procurement
policies;
· Overall view of the management of the business.
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Subject & Ref.
Board
Related
Disclosures
A.10.1

Corporate governance Principle

Level of Compliance

The following details pertaining
to each Director should be
disclosed

Complied

· Name, qualification and brief
profile;

Details of directorships/other positions held, Directors'
interests in contracts and related party transactions
are disclosed in Notes 27 and 27.1 of the Financial
Statements given on pages 75 to 77.

· The nature of his/her expertise
in relevant functional areas;
· Immediate family and/or
material business relationship
with other Directors of the
Company;

Directors'profiles with their qualifications, areas of
expertise etc. are given on pages 8 to 9.

Details of Board meetings and Board subcommittees,
their composition, attendance by Directors of meetings
held during the year are given on page 14.

· Names of other listed
Companies in Sri Lanka in
which the Director concerned
serves as a Director;
· Names of Companies in which
the Director concerned serves
as a Director and/or the fact
that he/she holds other
Directorships in group
Companies;
· Number/percentage of Board
meetings of the Company
attended during the year;
· Names of the Committees in
which the Director serves as
the Chairman or a member; and
· Number/percentage of
committee meetings attended
during the year.
Disclosure
· A Statement of Remuneration
Complied
of
Policy and details of
Refer Remuneration Committee Report on page 30 and
Remuneration
Remuneration of the Board as a
also Note 7 of the Audited Financial Statements.
B.3
whole.
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Subject & Ref.

Corporate governance Principle

Level of Compliance

Major
transactions
C.2

· All major transactions entered
Complied
into by the Company should be
There were no major transactions entered
disclosed.
In to by the Company during the year under review
which fell within the definition of Section 185 of the
Companies Act No. 07 of 2007 which materially
affected the asset base of the Company.

Audit
Committee
D.3.4

· Names of the members of the
Audit Committee should be
disclosed.

Complied
Refer the Audit Committee Report on pages 28 to 29.

· Basis for determining the
independence of Auditors.
Code of
Business
Conduct and
Ethics D.4.1
& D.4.2

· Should disclose whether the
Company has a Code of
Business Conduct & Ethics for
Directors and members of the
Senior Management team.

Non Complied
Business Conduct & Ethics for Directors and members of
the Senior Management team will be formalized during
2011.

· Should also disclose an
affirmative declaration that they
have abided by such Code.
· The Chairman must certify
that he/she is not aware of any
violation of any of the
provisions of this Code.
Going
Concern
D.1.5

· Should report that the
Complied
Company is a going concern,
Refer Annual Report of the Board on the state of
with supporting assumptions
Affairs of the Company. On pages 40 to 43.
and qualifications as necessary.

B. Remuneration Committee Report
Subject & Ref.

Corporate governance Principle

Members of
· The names of the members of
Remuneration
Remuneration Committee
Committee
should be disclosed in the
B.1.3
Remuneration Committee
Report.
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C. Directors' Report
Subject & Ref.

Corporate governance Principle

Directors'
Should contain the following
Report D.1.2 declarations made by the
Directors,

Level of Compliance
Complied
Refer on pages 40 to 43.

· The Company has not engaged
in any activities, which
contravenes laws and
regulations;
· The Directors have declared
all material interests in
contracts involving the
Company and refrained from
voting on matters in which
they were materially interested;
· The Company has made all
endeavors to ensure the
equitable treatment of
shareholders;
· The business is a going concern
with supporting assumptions or
qualifications as necessary; and
· They have conducted a review
of internal controls covering
financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk
management and have
obtained reasonable assurance
of their effectiveness and
successful adherence herewith.

D Financial Statements
Subject & Ref.
Financial
Statements
D.1.3

Corporate governance Principle

Level of Compliance

· The Board of Directors should
include a Statement of
Responsibility for the
preparation and presentation of
Financial Statements.

Complied

· Auditors should also have a
statement about their reporting
responsibility.

Refer on page 45.

Refer on page 44.
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E. Management Report
Subject & Ref.

Corporate governance Principle

Management
Report D.1.4

· Should include a Management
Discussion and Analysis
Report discussing at least the
following issues:
· industry structure and
developments;
· opportunities and threats;

Level of Compliance
Complied.
Refer Chairman's Review on pages 2 to 3.
Refer Executive Director/Acting General Manager's
Review on pages 4 to 5.
Refer Management Discussion and Financial Review on
page 10.

· risks and concerns;
· internal control systems and
their adequacy;
· social and environmental
protection activities carried out
by the Company;
· financial performance;
· material developments in
human resources/industrial
relations; and
· prospects for the future

F. Corporate governance Report
Subject & Ref.
Corporate
governance
Report D.5.1

Corporate governance Principle

Level of Compliance

Complied
· Should disclose the manner
Refer on pages 14 to 27.
and extent to which the
Company has complied with
the principles and provisions of
the Code.

G. Audit Committee Report
Subject & Ref.

Corporate governance Principle

Audit
Committee
Report D.3.3

· Should set out the work carried
out by the Committee.
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CORRECTIVE ACTION / IMPROVEMENTS
In view of the Company not being fully compliant prior to 2010 with some of the provisions outlined above, the
newly constituted Board commenced adherence with the CSE Rules of Corporate Governance and Corporate
Governance issued jointly by the SEC and ICASL.
The Board focused much of their attention on the following during 2010 in order to review the operations and
bring it to a point of stability.
A.

Re-evaluation of Projects that were commenced under previous Management and a strategy was
developed to focus on the project Management in the short run.

B.

Reviewing and revising the Management structure of the Company and accordingly assigning
responsibilities and delegated authority.

C.

Setting out delegated authority for procurement, supplies and administration.

D. Close monitoring and cash flow management.
E.

Settling certain dues and re negotiated certain term of borrowings.

F.

Board subcommittees were reconstituted viz. Audit Committee, and Remuneration committee.
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Composition of the Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises of three NonExecutive Directors of the Company. Consequent
to the re-constitution of the Board of Directors, all
subcommittees of the Board were also reconstituted
and the following Directors were appointed to the
Audit Committee in 2010.
V R De Silva (Chairman)
S Palihawadana
C Kotigala
The Chairman of the Committee is Mr V R de Silva,
who is a Non-Executive Director and an Associate of
The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka,
Mr S Palihawadana & Mr C Kotigala are also NonExecutive Directors. The Executive Director/Acting
General Manager and Acting Chief Financial Officer
attend committee meetings by invitation. The External
Auditors attend the meetings whenever the Committee
requires their presence. The Company Secretary
functions as the Secretary to the Audit Committee.
The Committee is aware that it has not complied with
the requirement to have independent Directors on
the committee. However the committee resolved to
function with the present composition of Directors
until suitably qualified independent Directors are
appointed to the Board.

International Best Practices, Rule 7.10.6 of the Listing
Rules of the Colombo Stock Exchange and the Code of
Best Practice on Corporate Governance jointly issued
by the Securities & Exchange Commission of Sri Lanka
(SEC) and The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri
Lanka (ICASL).

Main Responsibilities
The main objective of the Audit Committee is to
assist the Board of Directors to effectively carry
out its responsibilities relating to financials and
other connected affairs of the Company. The main
responsibilities include –
1.

Reviewing and monitoring the integrity of
the Financial Statements, financial reporting,
information databases and audit process.

2.

Examining any matter relating to financial and
other connected affairs of the Company.

3.

Monitor all internal and external audits and
inspection programmes.

4.

Review and take action on all internal and
external audit reports and follow-up on the
recommendations.

5.

Review and monitor IT governance activities.

6.

Review and monitor the systems of internal
controls.

7.

Review and monitor the system for approval
and monitoring of expenses including capital
expenditure.

8.

Review and monitor statutory and regulatory
compliance process.

9.

Approving the annual internal audit plans.

Meetings
During the year under review, the Committee met
twice and reports of internal and external audits
were discussed at these meetings. Attendances of the
members at these Committee meetings are given on
page 29. The Minutes of the Committee were made
available to the Board of Directors for information and
necessary action.

Terms of Reference
The new Charter of the Audit Committee defines
the role, responsibilities and powers of the Audit
Committee and it ensures that the composition and
the activities of the Audit Committee are in line with
28
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Activities during the year
4.	Internal Audit and Inspection
The attendance of the Directors at the Audit Committee
meeting during the year.
Name of the Director

Eligible to
attend

Attended

V R de Silva

2

2

S Palihawadana

2

2

C Kotigala

2

2

The Committee carried out the following activities
during the year under review:
1. 	Audit Charter
A new audit charter was prepared during the year
approved in January 2011.

The Company has obtained approval to use the
services of the Internal Audit Division of Seylan Bank
PLC. Internal Audit will be formalised and done
on a regular basis commencing 2011. A risk based
approach will be used.
5. External Audit
The Committee met with the External Auditors - KPMG
Ford, Rhodes, Thornton & Co., during the year to
discuss the Management letters and the Financial
Statements and plan out the scope, approach and the
methodology to be adopted in carrying out the annual
audit.
6.	Corporate Governance

2. Financial Reporting
The Committee discussed and reviewed the financial
reporting process of the Company on behalf of the
Board. All interim Financial Statements and annual
Financial Statements were reviewed, prior to their
release, for compliance with statutory and regulatory
requirements including the Sri Lanka Accounting
Standards, the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007,
Sri Lanka Accounting and Auditing Standards Act
No. 15 of 1995. Compliance with other regulatory
requirements such as the Listing Rules of the Colombo
Stock Exchange and Companies Act No. 07 of 2007
and subsequent amendments thereto were also
ensured.

The Committee also ensured that good corporate
governance was practiced in conformity with the
Listing Rules of the Colombo Stock Exchange and
the Code of Best Practice on Corporate Governance
issued jointly by the SEC & ICASL and the appropriate
procedures were in place to conduct independent
investigations whenever it was needed.
7.	Appointment of Auditors
The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board
of Directors that Messrs KPMG Ford, Rhodes, Thornton
& Co., be re-appointed as Auditors for the financial
year ending 31st December, 2011.

3.	Regulatory Compliance
Procedures were in place to ensure compliance with
statutory regulations. During the year, these procedures
were reviewed through monthly/quarterly reports
submitted by the Senior Management to the Board of
Directors.

.............................................
V R De Silva
Chairman - Audit Committee
24th January 2011
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Composition of the Remuneration Committee
Report
The attendance of the Directors at the Remuneration
Committee meeting during the year.
Name of the Director

Eligible to
attend

Attended

C Kotigala

1

1

R Nadarajah

1

1

S Palihawadana

1

1

The Remuneration Committee appointed by the
Board comprises of 3 Non-Executive Directors.
The Committee is headed by a Non-Executive
Chairman, Mr C Kotigala and the members include
Mr R Nadarajah and Mr S Palihawadana.
Brief profiles of the members are given on pages 8 to
9 of the Annual Report.
The Executive Director/Acting General Manager of the
company is co-opted to the meeting and the Manager
- Human Resources and Administration assist the
Committee by providing relevant information for their
decision making within their Board approved terms of
reference.
The Committee met once during the year under
review. The Minutes of the Committee meeting were
made available to the Board of Directors for their
information and necessary action and were affirmed
by the Board.

and parameters for the remuneration structures of all
Executive Staff of the Company and for overseeing
the implementation of these policies. For this purpose
the term “remuneration” has been defined as all cash
and non-cash benefits received in consideration of
employment. The Remuneration Committee shall
make its recommendations to the Board of Directors
and upon consideration of such recommendations the
Board shall make the final determinations.
The Remuneration Committee is required to have
a minimum of two Non-Executive Directors and
the majority of the Committee should comprise of
independent Non-Executive Directors.
The primary objective of remuneration packages
is to attract and retain a highly qualified and
experienced workforce and reward their performance.
In this regard, the Committee sets the criteria such as
qualifications, experience and key attributes required
and the eligibility criteria, to be considered for
appointments or promotions.
The Committee in fulfilling the above tasks reviews
information concerning executive pay to bring
it in line with market rates and practices. In this
connection, the Committee determines as and when
appropriate, the basis for revising remuneration and
performance based incentives of key managerial
personnel.

Remuneration Policy and functions
The Remuneration Committee is responsible for
recommending the remuneration payable to the
key managerial personnel including Executive
Directors and the Chief Executive Officer based on
established performance parameters. In addition, the
committee is responsible for establishing guidelines
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	C Kotigala
Chairman
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We document the impact of Seylan Developments
PLC's activities on the economy, the environment,
and society in general. It also documents how the
company has been generating a larger social wealth
for all our stakeholders. The Company's stakeholders
are many. They consist of our customers tenants;
our employees and their families; our shareholders;
our business partners; the larger society and the
environment.

While generating a broader social wealth Seylan
Developments PLC has not compromised on the
quality of its products and services; on business ethics
and transparency; on serving all social segments; and
on creating safe and enjoyable workplaces.
We have used the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI)
framework as a model for this year's Report.

Organizational Profile
While building financial wealth for our shareholders
is one of the things we do, we are also conscious
that our activities have an impact on the physical
environment, the economy, and society in general.
While generating financial value we continue to
work to protecting the environment, fuelling the
economy, empowering communities and creating new
opportunities for our employees.
We hope this process will enhance transparency,
facilitate better communication with our stakeholders
and increase stakeholder confidence in our operations.
Creating a more enduring social wealth has
required the Company constantly re-design its
strategy, mindset and internal processes. Seylan
Developments PLC is constantly re-evaluating
its methods of work and looking at how we
can strengthen our performance on all fronts:
financially, socially and environmentally.

This Report covers the activities of Seylan
Developments PLC for the period from 1st January
2010 to 31st December 2010. We analyse the
business and financial activities of the institution and
provide detailed information on the performance
during the year.
Any questions or comments about this Sustainability
Report should be directed to the Executive Director/
Acting General Manager of Seylan Developments PLC,
Mr. K Rathnayaka on Telephone No. 011 2452697.

Key opportunities and challenges
When considering sustainability there are many
challenges, opportunities and risks that necessitate
continuous evaluation and analysis. The grid below
depicts these findings related to sustainability.
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Triple
Bottom Line
Economic

Environment

Challenges

Opportunities

· The global economic
meltdown, crises of
confidence, risk aversion,
liquidity crunch,
fluctuations in foreign
exchange rates and
commodity prices.

· Tapping market potential
via growing sectors, i.e.
Insurance, Health care &
leisure.

· Balancing customer
demands & objectives to
conserve energy & reduce
use of papers through
improved design.

·

· Expanding opportunities
in cleaner production
technologies.
Leverage cleaner &
advanced technologies to
cut energy & papers and
reduce operational costs.

· Getting local suppliers to
provide required goods
& services at competitive
costs while adhering to
environmental & social
standards.

Social

· Apply energy
management solutions to
help customers be more
energy efficient. At our
branch level.

· Employee retention.

· Increasing employability

· Ensuring protection of
· Reaching out to rural
human rights, decent work
communities at remote
practices for contract
locations.
workers employed
ensuring strict
conformance to all labour
legislations.
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*Ambitious economic targets
could result in challenges in
relation to cost allocation for
Sustainability related capital
expenditure.

Environmental degradation due
to the increased consumption
of energy, and papers could
result in an increase in the
carbon footprint.
Lack of sophisticated waste
recycling and waste
management mechanisms
could bring about
environmental degradation.

· Conserving resources like
water, energy & papers.

· Ensuring the health &
safety of employees at the
workplace.

Risks

· The extensive expansion
plans and the boom in
certain industries and social
& cultural aspects with the
community, increases social
risk.
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Stakeholder Dialogue
The Company values the input of its multiple
stakeholders and has put in place a number of processes
to enable stakeholders to contribute to decision making
within the Company. Stakeholders input has had
an important impact on decision making within the
Company previously and will continue to play a role
within the institution.
The Company engages with as many stakeholders as
possible and is sensitive to their views and interests.

Shareholders
The Board encourages the active participation of the
shareholders at its Annual and Extraordinary General
Meetings. The AGM is the main forum at which
shareholders discuss performance, financial statements,
returns, appointments and other relevant matters.

The Company has planned to conduct surveys and
to improve the standard of the service when necessary.

Employees
Every month the Executive Director/Acting General
Manager meets representatives to discuss employee
relationships and employee grievances.
Seylan Developments PLC's ‘Open Door' policy
enables any employee to have a face to face
discussion with the Executive Director/Acting General
Manager. ‘Open Door' Policy facilitates closer contact
between employees and the Senior Management, by
enhancing employee confidence and forges a dynamic
organizational culture.

ECONOMIC IMPACT

Shareholders are free to communicate with the Seylan
Developments PLC and the Company will promptly
address their requirements, queries and suggestions
made by them will be implemented whenever possible.

Customers

Seylan Developments PLC is committed to generating
both social and financial values. While generating
financial value for our shareholders is one of the main
activities of the Company, we are also conscious
of the larger social obligations we have. We are
conscious of the impact we have on all these social
segments and the impact our products and policies
have on the economy and society in general.
Seylan Developments PLC ensures that its services are
driven and shaped by customer needs and aspirations.
With this in mind, the Company maintains close
relations with customers and obtains as much feed
back and input as possible.
Tenants feedback is one of the main methods the
Company uses to improve the level of its services and
to respond to customer demands and expectations.

This part of the Report looks at Seylan Developments
PLC's impact on investors, customers and employees.
The ‘Value Added Statement' of the company reflects
our customers, employees and shareholders and the
contribution of the Company to the Government's
revenue and the economy in general.
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VALUE ADDED STATEMENT
Value added is the wealth Seylan Developments PLC has been able to create by providing clients with quality
and value added service.

2010
Rs. '000

2009
Rs. '000

Value Added		
Income earned by Seylan Developments PLC for
Providing Services

147,714		

144,477

Cost of Services

(122,813)

(279,906)

24,901		

(135,429)

Value Added Services provided by Seylan Developments PLC
Non-Seylan Developments PLC Income

6,311		

Provision for Bad Debts

358,087

(36,090)

(61,061)

(4,878)

161,597

2010
2009
Rs.
'000
Rs.
'000
Rs.
'000
Rs. '000
		
Value Allocated						
To Employees						
Salaries, Wages and Other Benefits			

15,547				 34,871

To Providers of Capital					
Dividends to Shareholders 			

-				

-

To Government						
Income Tax

56				

663		

Stamp Duty

25			

156		

VAT

576				

930		

Debits Tax

202		

299		

859		

2,048

To Expansion and Growth						
Surplus/(Deficit)
Depreciation

(27,739)			
6,455		
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(21,284)

94,764		
29,914		 124,678

(4,878)			 161,597
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Value Allocated
2009

Value Allocated

2010
20000

150000

15000
120000

5000
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Government

Growth

-5000

Value
Rs '000

Value
Rs '000

10000

90000

60000

-10000
30000

-15000
-20000

0
-25000

Employees

Government

Growth

Party

Party

PROTECTING THE ENVIRONMENT

Energy Conservation

Seylan Developments PLC is committed to preserving
and replenishing the physical environment. All our
policies and products are designed with this end
in sight. Through engagements with our customers
we seek to spread the message of conservation
to a broader audience. Some of our special
products are designed specifically to protect the
environment and others encourage clients to integrate
environmental concerns into their project planning and
implementation processes.

Seylan Developments PLC constantly monitors its
energy use with a view of reducing costs and making
maximum use of energy consumed. The main source
of energy is the national grid.

In this section we examine how Seylan Developments
PLC's policies and processes help preserve the
environment and ensure its sustainability. A key aspect
of the Company environmental strategy has been the
focus on employees and generating a cultural change
within the organization that is committed to protecting
and preserving the environment.
The Company has integrated energy-saving processes
and technologies that facilitates power saving to
the country. In redesigning its processes Seylan
Developments PLC has focussed on the following
areas:
1.

Energy Conservation

2.

Waste Management
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Energy Conserved
		
Seylan Towers

Energy Consumption
2010

2009

1,756,528

1,778,996

34,451,069

34,977,138

Consumption (Units)
Kwh
Expense (Rs.)

The use of air-conditioning is reduced wherever
possible and temperatures are regulated to maintain an
optimum level of comfort. Computers come with low
radiation levels and are programmed to transit to stand
by mode within a short time of idling.

Category of Employment
Waste Management
The Company has adapted policies and processes to
reduce waste. Where waste does arise, the Company
tries to reuse and recycle wherever is technically and
economically feasible.
The Company tenants has introduced systems to
segregate waste into plastics, solid waste, paper, glass
and other materials. We are exploring several waste
disposal and reuse options in this regard.

EMPOWERING PEOPLE
Company's role as a services provider means it plays a
sensitive role in people's lives. The Company has been
conscious of this role and has focused on unleashing
new opportunities for society in general and for its
employees. Employees are the soul of the institution
and we have endeavoured to create inspiring and safe
workplaces for our staff. In this section we look at
how the Company's activities have had an impact on
society and on our employees.
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Category
Permanent
Contract
Trainee
Total

No. of Employees

Percentage (%)

34
1
35

97.14%
2.86%
100%

Rewarding Innovation and Passion
Company has focused on building a dynamic team
that is bond by a common set of values and goals and
committed to a notion of sustainable entrepreneurship.
The Company has encouraged productivity, rewards
passion, ensures a high level of workplace safety and
continues to invest in employees skills and future
growth.
As at the end of 2010, Company had 35 employees.
Employee turnover for the year was of the total
workforce.
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Breakdown of Employees resignation

Seylan Developments PLC ensures that all employees
can practice their religion without any hindrance.

according to age
Age
		
19
20
25
30
35
40
45
50

All permanent employees of Seylan Developments
PLC are covered by Hospitalisation and Insurance
Scheme. The Company Health Policy makes direct
payments through Sri Lanka Insurance Corporation to
the respective hospitals on behalf of the employee.

No. of
Resignations
1
3
1
2

- 24
- 29
- 34
- 39
- 44
- 49
& above

Child Labour
Seylan Developments PLC has a zero tolerance of
child labour. The Company policy is that all children
under the age of 18 should have an opportunity to
further their education and therefore, does not employ
anyone under age.

Breakdown of Employees per Category
according to Gender
*Gender
		
Male
Female

Health and Safety

Supervisory/
Technical

Clerical &
Allied

Executive

Total

17
1

8
1

4
4

29
06

Ensuring the highest level of workplace safety is a
priority for Seylan Developments PLC. The Company
periodically undertakes an assessment of its safety
levels to ensure that the highest level of safety is
observed across all institutions. Last year, there were
no accidents recorded on any of our premises.

Breakdown of Employees per Category
according to Ethnic Group
*Grade
Supervisory/
		 Technical

Clerical &
Allied

Sinhala
17
9
Tamil
1
Muslim			
Burger			
Others			

Executive

Total

7
-

33
01

1

01

* Staff Grades
1. Supervisory/Technical
2. Clerical & Allied
3. Executive
There were no cases of discrimination or unfair
dismissal and no court cases pending against Seylan
Developments PLC during the year under review.
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Employee Welfare
Seylan Developments PLC employees enjoy a number
of benefits. These include:
Benefits
(Permanent)

Full-time Employees

Insurance 		
Staff Loans 		
Routine Medical Allowances 		

Ensuring that women have equal rights within
the institution is important to the Company. We
attempt to create an environment in which women
feel comfortable and perform at optimum levels.
Allegations of harassment are investigated promptly
and remedial measures taken.

Yes
Yes
Yes

EMPOWERING LIVES
Promoting Ethnic Harmony

Promoting Human Rights
Seylan Developments PLC is committed to practicing
all those human rights enumerated in the Constitution
of Sri Lanka and the international covenants that
the country has signed. Promoting and protecting
human rights is an important part of our endeavour in
sustainable entrepreneurship.
The Company respects, protects and promotes the
rights of all its employees, including labour related
rights, and promotes the rights of all other stakeholders.
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The end of the war in 2010 has created a massive
opportunity for the country. This opportunity must
be seized by the state, business and civil society and
made use of to lay a foundation for a peaceful and
prosperous society.
It is important to provide the opportunity for all
communities to overcome the trauma of the war, to
move forward in a spirit of harmony and to feel a
sense of belonging.
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Financial Calendar 2010
Annual Report and Accounts for 2010 signed on
18th February 2011
18th Annual General Meeting held on 28th July, 2010

Submission of the Interim Financial Statements
in terms of Rule 7.4 of the Colombo Stock
Exchange – 2010
For the three months ended March 31, 2010
(un-audited) on 11th May, 2010
For the six months ended June 30, 2010 (un-audited)
on 13th August, 2010
For the nine months ended September 30, 2010
(un-audited) on 2nd November, 2010

Proposed Financial Calendar – 2011
19th Annual General Meeting to be held in 31st
March 2011
Submission of Interim Financial Statements in terms of
Rule 7.4 of the Colombo Stock Exchange – 2010/11
For the three months ended March 31, 2011
(un-audited) on or before May 15, 2011
For the six months ended June 30, 2011 (un-audited)
on or before August 15, 2011
For the nine months ended September 30, 2011
(un-audited) on or before November 15, 2011
For the twelve months ended December 31, 2011
(un-audited) on or before February 28, 2012

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2010
(un-audited) before 28th February, 2011
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Annual Report of the Board on the state of Affairs of
the Company
The details set out herein provide the information
required by the Companies Act. No. 7 of 2007, the
Listing Rules of the Colombo Stock Exchange and
recommended best accounting practices. The Annual
Report was approved by the Directors on 18th
February 2011.

General
The Directors have pleasure in presenting to the share
holders their report together with the audited Financial
Statements for the year ended December 31, 2010 of
Seylan Developments PLC, a public limited liability
company incorporated in Sri Lanka on 3rd September
1992 quoted in the Colombo Stock Exchange on the
same day and re-registered under the Companies Act.
No. 07 of 2007 on 22 May 2008.

Principal Activities
There were no significant changes in the nature of
principal activities of the Company which is property
development/management and providing of services to
the tenants of East Tower and the apartment tenants at
the West Tower during the financial year under review.

Financial Statements
The Financial Statements of the Company is given on
46 to 80 pages.

Auditors' Report
The Auditors Report on the Financial Statements is
given on page 45.

Accounting Policies
The Accounting Policies adapted in the preparation of
Financial Statements is given on pages 51 to 60.

interests in contracts and remuneration paid to them
etc. The Interests Register is available for inspection as
required by the Companies Act.

Review of Business
The Chairman's Statement on page 2 to 3 provides
an overall assessment on the financial position of the
Company.

Directors’ Remunerations
Directors' remuneration, in respect of the Company for
the financial year ended December 31, 2010 is given
on note 7 on the Financial Statements on page 61.

Donations
No donations were made to approved charities during
the year.

Directorate
List of Directors
The following were the Directors of the Company
during the year:
Mr R Nadarajah
Mr S R Wijesinghe
Mr H L Gunasekera
Mr V R De Silva
Mr S Palihawadana
Mr C Kotigala
Mr K Rathnayaka
Mr P Sarawanapawan (Appointed on 3rd February 2011)
Rear Admiral B A J G Peiris (Resigned on 7th April 2010)
Mr M A D A I Madurapperuma (Resigned on 7th April 2010)
Mr M L P Jayatilaka (Ceased 10th October 2010)

Interests Register

Directors’ Responsibility for Financial
Reporting

The Interests Register is maintained by the Company,
as required by the Companies Act No. 7 of 2007. All
Directors have made declarations as provided for in
Section 192 (2) of the Companies Act aforesaid, entries
were made in the Interests Register on Directors'

The Directors are responsible for the preparation
of Financial Statements of the Company which
should reflect a true and fair view of the state of its
affaires. The Directors are of the view that the Income
Statement, Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in
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Equity, Cash Flow Statement, Accounting Policies
and Notes thereto appearing on pages 46 to 80 have
been prepared in conformity with the requirements of
the Sri Lanka Accounting Standards, Companies Act
No. 7 of 2007, Sri Lanka Accounting and Auditing
Standards Act. No. 15 of 1995 and the Listing rules of
the Colombo Stock Exchange.

Directors’ Interests in Shares
The Directors share holding information of the
Company are as follows:
Mr
Mr
Mr
Mr
Mr
Mr
Mr

S R Wijesinghe
H L Gunasekera
V R de Silva
R Nadarajah
S Palihawadana
C Kotigala
K Rathnayaka

-

5,740 Shares
1,000 Shares
110 Shares
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

Directors’ Interests in Contracts
Directors' interests in contracts with the Company,
both direct and indirect are disclosed on page 75 to
77. These interests have been declared at Directors'
Meetings. As a practice, Directors have refrained
from voting on matters in which they were materially
interested. Directors have no direct or indirect interests
in any other contract or proposed contracts with the
Company.

Corporate Governance
Systems and procedures are in place to ensure that
Corporate Governance is adequately and practically
dealt with. The Board of Directors has focused on the
necessary resources and processes required to ensure
that the Company complies with the Codes of Best
Practice on Corporate Governance issued by regulators
as detailed in the Section on ‘Corporate Governance'
on pages 14 to 27 .

Auditors

as the auditors to the company. A resolution to
reappoint them as Auditors and granting authority to
the Directors to fix their remuneration will be proposed
at the Annual General Meeting.
Messrs KPMG Ford, Rhodes Thornton & Company
was paid Rs. 525,000/- as a Audit fees for the year
ended December 31, 2010 and Messers LMK was paid
Rs. 472,500/- in 2009 as audit fees by the Company.
In addition, a sum of Rs. 439,955/- (Messrs KPMG
Rs. 368,755 & Messers LMK Rs. 71,200) was also paid
to as a non Audit fees in 2010 (Messers LMK was paid
Rs. 204,000/- in 2009), for permitted non audit related
services including tax consultancy services.
The Board has evaluated the independent opinion
of the external auditors and is satisfied that their
independence has not been comprised.
The Directors to the best of their knowledge confirm
that the Auditors do not have any other relationship
with the Company.

System of Internal Controls
The Board of Director has taken steps to oversee the
implementation of an effective and comprehensive
systems of Internal Controls covering financial
operations and compliance controls required to carry
on the business of the Company in an orderly manner,
safeguard its assets and secure accuracy and reliability
of the records. Controls over financial reporting were
also reviewed during the year to ensure that they are
robust and operationally sound.

Income
The Company recorded a loss of Rs.27.7 Mn after tax
for the financial year ended 31 December 2010.

Operating Results
Details of profit relating to the Company are given
below.

During the year the Company has appointed
Messrs KPMG Ford, Rhodes Thornton & Company
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Amounts in Sri Lanka Rupees

2010
For the year ended December 31,		

Restated / Reclassified
2009

Profit / (Loss) from operations for the year
57,017,228		
Less: Finance Cost
84,701,319		
Add : Fair Value gain on Investment Property – restated 			
			
Profit / (Loss) before taxation
(27,684,090)
Less : Provision for taxation
55,525		
Net Profit / (Loss) after taxation
(27,739,616)
Profit / (Loss) Carried Forward
(27,739,616)

600000
500000
400000

VALUE

300000
200000
100000
2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

95,426,954
662,589
94,764,365
94,764,365

valuer in 2009 and the difference between the
carrying value and the revalued amount has been
taken to the Income Statement. The Directors are
of the opinion that the revalued amounts are not in
excess of the current market value of such properties.
Details of Investment Properties are given in Note 15
of the Financial Statements on page 65.

PROFIT & LOSS AFTER TAX
Rs '000

0

(64,824,123)
190,316,068
350,567,145

2008

2009

2010

-100000
-200000
-300000
-400000

YEAR

The Board has decided that the revaluation of
properties should take place once in 3 Years in line
with the accounting standard SLAS 40 Investment
Property.
TOTAL ASSET
Rs Mn

Income Tax Expenses

Property, Plant and Equipment
Details on Capital expenditure on Property, Plant
and Equipment are given in Note 14 of the Financial
Statements on page 64 of this Annual Report. There
was no capital expenditure approved or contracted
after the year-end.

Investment Property
The land & the buildings held to earn rental income
and capital appreciation are classified as an Investment
Property. Investment property is stated at ‘Fair Value'
based on a valuation carried out by a Professional
42

5000

4000

VALUE

Income tax expense has been computed at the rates
mentioned in Note 12 of the Financial Statements on
pages 62 to 63.

3000

2000

1000

0

2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

YEAR

Reserves
The total reserves of the Company stood at
Rs 89,859,948/- as at December 31, 2010
(Rs. 117,599,564/- (restated), as at December 31,
2009) details of which are given in the Financial
Statements on page 48.
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Stated Capital

Statutory Payments

The Stated Capital as at December 31, 2010 was
Rs. 1,356,078,570 consisting of 73,982,430 of Rs. 10/ordinary shares and this remained unchanged during
the year under review.

The Directors, to the best of their knowledge and
belief confirm are satisfied that all statutory payments
to the Government regulatory institutions have been
settled.

Share Information

Outstanding Litigation

Information on shareholding
81 to 82.

is given on page

There were no litigation pending against the Company
as at December 31, 2010, other than the cases
disclosed in Note 28 on page 77.

Shareholdings
There were 5,941 registered shareholders (6,170 in
2009) holding Ordinary Voting Shares as at December
31, 2010. The distribution of shareholding is given on
page 81.

Events after the Balance Sheets Date
There have not been any material events that occurred
subsequent to the date of the Balance Sheet that
require adjustments to the Financial Statements.

Substantial Shareholdings

Going Concern

The list of the top twenty shareholders is given on
page 82 of the Annual Report.

The Directors having considered the financial position,
operating conditions, regulatory, other factors and
matters required to be addressed in the corporate
governance code, are satisfied that the Company has
access to adequate commercial and capital market
funding to continue its operations in the foreseeable
future. The financial statements of the company has
been prepared accordingly on a going concern basis.

Equitable Treatment to Shareholders
All shareholders have been treated equally in
accordance with the original terms of issue.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations
The Company to the best of it's knowledge confirms
that they have not engage in any activity which is
harmful to the environment.

Notice of Meeting
Notice of Meeting relating to the Nineteenth Annual
General Meeting is given on page 84.

For and behalf of the Board of Directors

................................

................................................................

......................................

R Nadarajah

K Rathnayaka

SSP Corporate Services (Pvt) Ltd

Chairman

Executive Director/Acting General Manager

Company Secretary

18th February 2011
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibility
In terms of Sections 150 (1) and 151 (1) of the
Companies Act No. 07 of 2007, the Directors are
responsible for ensuring that the Company keep proper
books of account of all transactions and events and
prepares Financial Statements reflecting a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company at
the Balance Sheet date and the profit or loss for the
year ending on the Balance Sheet date the financial
Statements of the Company has been certified by the
Company's Acting Chief Financial Officer the person
responsible for the preparation, as required by Section
150 (1)( c ) of the Companies Act. On behalf of the
Board of Directors the Financial Statements have
been signed by the Executive Director/Acting General
Manager and the Chairman on 18th February 2011 as
required by the Section 150 (1) (c) of the Companies
Act.
The Directors have taken appropriate steps to ensure
that the Company maintain proper books of account
and review the financial reporting system at their
meetings through the Audit Committee, the Report
of which Committee is given on page 28 to 29. The
Board of Directors also approves Interim Financial
Statements prior to their release following a review
and recommendation by the Audit Committee.
The Financial Statements for the year 2010, prepared
and presented in this Annual Report is consistent with
the underlying books of account and is in conformity
with the requirements of the Sri Lanka Accounting
Standards, Companies Act No. 07 of 2007, Sri Lanka
Accounting & Auditing Standards Act No. 15 of 1995
and Section 7 on Continuing Listing Requirements of
the Listing Rules of the Colombo Stock Exchange.

................................
	R Nadarajah
Chairman

18th February 2011
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The Directors have taken reasonable measures
to safeguard the assets of the Company, by the
establishing of an appropriate system of internal
controls with the view to prevent and detect fraud
and other irregularities. The Directors are responsible
for the formulation of overall business policies and
for guiding Management on the conduct of the
activities of the Company. Accordingly, the day
to day Management of the Company is delegated
to a competent management team. The Directors
have also made the necessary assessment that the
Company ability to continue as a going concern and
the Company has adequate resources to continue
in its operations. The Company continues to adopt
the Going concern basis in preparing the Financial
Statements.
The Board of Directors also wish to confirm that
as required under Sections 166 (1) and 167 (1) of
the Companies Act, they have prepared the Annual
Report and ensured that a copy thereof is sent to every
shareholder of Company, within the stipulated period
of time.
The Company's External Auditors, Messrs KPMG Ford,
Rhodes, Thornton & Co.., who was appointed during
the year was provided with every opportunity to
undertake the inspections they considered appropriate.
The Directors confirm that to the best of their
knowledge, all statutory payments relating to
employees and Government and other statutory bodies
that were due in respect of the Company have been
paid where relevant or provided for.

................................................................

......................................

K Rathnayaka	SSP Corporate Services (Pvt) Ltd
Executive Director/Acting General Manager

Company Secretary
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Independent Auditors’ report

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SEYLAN DEVELOPMENTS PLC
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Seylan Developments PLC, which comprise the balance sheet as at December
31, 2010, and the income statement, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes as set out on pages 46 to 80 of this Annual Report. The corresponding figures
presented are based on financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended December 31, 2009, which was audited by
another auditor whose report dated 8th February 2010, expressed an unqualified opinion on those statements.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting
Standards. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Scope of Audit and Basis of Opinion
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Sri Lanka Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation.
We have obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of
our audit. We therefore believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, so far as appears from our examination, the Company maintained proper accounting records for the year ended December
31, 2010 and the financial statements give a true and fair view of the Company's state of affairs as at December 31, 2010 and its loss and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
These financial statements also comply with the requirements of Section 151(2) as appropriate of the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007.

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
18th February 2011
Colombo, Sri Lanka
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Income Statement
For the year ended 31st December
Amounts in Sri Lanka Rupees					

Note
2010
2009
			
Restated /
			 Reclassified
				
Rental Income

4

143,156,566 		

139,751,049

Other income

5

10,836,615		

9,249,571

		
Personnel cost

153,993,181

149,000,620

6

(15,546,698 )

(34,870,549 )

Premises, equipment, establishments		

(25,455,362 )

(29,830,885 )

Administrative expenses		

(19,633,437 )

(87,581,978 )

Marketing expenses		

(249,613 )

(479,767 )

		

(60,885,110 )

(152,763,179 )

Results from operating activities

7

93,108,071		

(3,762,559 )

Provision for doubtful receivables and advance payments

8

(5,198,242 )

(48,881,564 )

Provision / impairment for investments

9

(30,892,601 )

(12,180,000 )

Change in fair value of investment properties

10

-

			

350,567,145

		

57,017,228

285,743,022

Net finance income / (expense)

(84,701,319 )

(190,316,068 )

(27,684,091 )

95,426,954

11

Profit / (Loss) before income taxation		
Income tax expense

12

Net Profit / (Loss) for the year		
Earnings / (Loss) per share (Rs.)

13

(55,525 )

(662,589 )

(27,739,616 )

94,764,365

(0.37 )

1.28

					
The notes on pages 51 to 80, form an integral part of these financial statements. 			
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Balance Sheet
As at 31st December
Amounts in Sri Lanka Rupees				

				
Note
2010
2009
			
Restated / Reclassified
Assets				
Non Current Assets				
Property, plant & equipment
14
5,494,921
13,932,509
Investment property
15
4,591,932,477
4,591,472,487
Investments in property development projects
16
210,651,676
226,363,061
Asset Held for Sale
17
Investment securities
18
2,393,823
27,243,823
Total Non Current Assets		
4,810,472,897
4,859,011,880
				
Current Assets				
Inventories		
1,075,177
1,273,328
Trade and other receivables
19
44,665,375
93,023,510
Other assets
20
8,851,901
15,625,663
Short term investments
21
100,000
6,142,601
Income tax receivable
22
2,989,217
Cash and cash equivalents		
5,059,483
2,939,108
Total Current Assets		
62,741,153
119,004,210
				
Total Assets		
4,873,214,050
4,978,016,090
				
Equity and Liabilities				
Equity 				
Stated capital
23
1,356,078,570		
1,356,078,570
Reserves		
2,073,232,126		
2,073,232,126
Retained earnings		
89,859,948		
117,599,564
		
3,519,170,644		
3,546,910,260
				
Non Current Liabilities				
Interest bearing loans and borrowings
24
1,077,315
194,648,689
Rent & security deposits		
78,000,000		
81,000,000
Deferred tax liability
25
334,155,380		
334,155,380
		
413,232,695		
609,804,069
				
Current Liabilities				
Bank overdrafts		
4,606,529
70,676,551
Income tax liability
22
8,716,577
Interest bearing loans and borrowings
24
800,032,882		
569,817,092
Other liabilities
26
136,171,300		
172,091,541
		
940,810,711		
821,301,761
				
Total Equity and Liabilities		
4,873,214,050
4,978,016,090
				
The notes on pages 51 to 80, form an integral part of these financial statements.				
The financial statements have been prepared in compliance with the requirements of Companies Act no 7 of 2007
				
…………………………				
C Dodanwela 				
Acting Chief Financial Officer				
				
Approved and signed on behalf of the board 				

................................		..........................
R Nadarajah		
Chairman		

K Rathnayaka
Executive Director/Acting General Manager

		
				
Colombo			
18th February 2011			
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Restated
Revaluation
Reserve
Rs

Restated
Restated
Retained
Total
Earnings 		
Rs
Rs

Balance as at 01.01.2009
739,824,300
90,760,620
525,493,650		
926,339,375
7,516,004
2,289,933,949
												
Restatement of Plan Assets (Note 33.3)
-		
-		
-		
15,690,875
15,690,875
Restatement of retirement benefit obligation (Note 33.3)
- 			
(371,680)
(371,680)
Restated balance as at 01.01.2009
739,824,300
90,760,620
525,493,650
926,339,375		
22,835,199
2,305,253,144
												
Add : Net loss reported in the previous year
-		
- 			
(141,391,931)
(141,391,931)
Prior year adjustment
- 			
1,481,048,131
236,156,296
1,717,204,427
Restated profit for the previous year
-			 1,481,048,131
94,764,365
1,575,812,496
Deferred tax liability (Note 33.2)
-		
-		
(334,155,380)
(334,155,380)
												
Restated balance as at 31.12.2009
739,824,300
90,760,620
525,493,650
2,073,232,126
117,599,564
3,546,910,260
												
Add : Net loss for the period
-		
-		
- 			
(27,739,616)
(27,739,616)
												
Balance as at 31.12.2010
739,824,300
90,760,620
525,493,650
2,073,232,126
89,859,948
3,519,170,644
												

Stated capital
			
Share capital
Share
Capital Redemption
		
Premium
Reserve Fund
Rs
Rs
Rs

Amounts in Sri Lanka Rupees

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT				
For the year ended 31st December
Amounts in Sri Lanka Rupees

		2010

2009
Restated /Reclassified

Cash Flows from Operating Activities				
				
Interest Received

32,572		

2,997,494

Interest Payments

(84,733,891 )

(192,098,106 )

Receipt from other Operating Activities

149,247,201		

158,620,516

Cash payments to Employees, Suppliers and Tax Authorities
(71,388,026 )
(149,539,081 )
				
Operating profit before changes in operating assets

(6,842,144 )

(180,019,177 )

(Increase)/Decrease in operating assets :			
Funds Advanced to Customers,Stock & Receivables

68,124,790 		

(49,010,809 )

(Increase)/Decrease in operating liabilities :				
Deposits from Customers				
Negotiable Certificates of Deposits & Trade payables

(102,816,001 )

174,448,320

Cash Generated from Operations

(41,533,355 )

(54,581,666 )

Income Taxes
(6,272,854)
				
Gratuity paid
Net cash from Operating Activities

-		
(47,806,209 )

(54,581,666 )

Cash Flows from Investing Activities				
Purchase of Dealing Securities
Investments in Projects
Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment
Proceeds from Sale of Property , Plant and Equipment

-

(14,644,285)

(1,151,678)

-

(77,833 )
6,805,522 		

(75,350 )
222,624,000

Capital repayment from projects

-		

-

Purchase of Investment Property

(459,990)

-

Proceeds from sale of Investment Property
Net cash from Investing Activities

5,116,021		

207,904,365

Cash Flows from Financing Activities				
Net increase in Other Borrowings

110,880,585 		

(196,349,108 )

Dividends paid				
Net Cash from Financing Activities

110,880,585		

(196,349,108 )

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

68,190,397

(43,026,409 )

Cash and Cash Equivalents at beginning of period

(67,737,443 )

(24,711,034 )

Cash and Cash Equivalents at end of period
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Bank Overdraft
Net Cash and Short Term Funds (Cash and Cash Equivalents)

452,954

(67,737,443 )

5,059,483		

2,939,108

(4,606,529 )
452,954

(70,676,551 )
(67,737,443 )
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For the year ended 31st December

Reconciliation of Operating Profit			
Amounts in Sri Lanka Rupees

		
Restated /Reclassified
2010
2009
Cash flows from operating activities			
Net loss before taxation
(27,684,091)
95,426,954
		
Adjustment for:					
Gratuity
(17,121,013)
3,675,356
Miscellaneous Income
(9,923,226)
Profit on Sale of Fixed Assets
(4,745,980)
Depreciation
6,455,880
29,914,809
Fair value of Investment properties
(350,567,145)
Allowance for impairment in Investments Securities
30,892,601
12,180,000
Bad & Doubtful Debtors
5,198,242
48,881,564
Interest income
-			
(21,518,536)
Expenses for other payables
7,089,804		
1,987,821
Expenses written off
2,995,639
- 			

		
Operating Profit before Working Capital Changes
(6,842,144)
(180,019,177)
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1.

Reporting Entity					
Seylan Developments PLC (the “Company”) is a “Public Quoted Company” and a limited liability
Company incorporated in Sri Lanka and listed in the Colombo Stock Exchange.
The address of the Company's registered office is No 97, Hyde Park Corner, Colombo 02.
The Company is in the business of Property Management.
The Company is a subsidiary of Seylan Bank PLC.
The staff strength of the Company as at 31st December 2010 is 35 (2009- 54).

2.

Basis of Preparation

(a)

Statement of compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards (SLAS)
as issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka (ICASL), and the requirements of the
Companies Act No 07 of 2007.
The financial statements for the year ended 31st December 2010 were authorized for issue by the Board
of Directors on 18th February 2011.

(b)

Basis of Measurement
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis and applied consistently with
no adjustments being made for inflationary factors affecting the financial statements, except for the
following;
·

(c)

Investment properties are measured at cost at the time of acquisition and subsequently at revalued
amounts (Fair value model).

Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in Sri Lanka Rupees, which is the Company's functional currency.

(d)

Use of Estimates and Judgments
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with SLASs requires the Management to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.
In particular, Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in
applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the
financial statements are described in the following notes:
·
Note 15
Investment Property
·
Note 25
Deferred Taxation
·
Note 26.1 Measurement of Defined Benefit Obligations
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(e)

Materiality and Aggregation
Each material class of similar items is presented separately in the financial statements. Items of a
dissimilar nature or function are presented separately unless they are immaterial.

3.

Consistency of Accounting Policies
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these
financial statements as and where relevant.

3.1

Foreign currency transactions
All foreign exchange transactions are converted to Sri Lanka Rupees, which is the reporting currency, at
the rates of exchange prevailing at the time the transactions were affected. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated to Sri Lanka Rupee equivalents using year-end spot
foreign exchange rates. Non- monetary assets and liabilities are translated using exchange rates that
existed when the values were determined. The resulting gains and losses are accounted for in profit or
loss.

3.2

Property, plant and equipment
Recognition and measurement
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and/or
accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition
of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, costs
directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use, costs of
dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located.
Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalized as part of
that equipment.
When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted
for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.
Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing
the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, and are
recognized net within other income in profit or loss. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts
included in the revaluation reserve are transferred to retained earnings.

Reclassification to Investment property
When the use of a property changes from the owner-occupying to investment property, the property is
remeasured to fair value and reclassified as an investment property. Any gain arising on remeasurement
is recognised in profit or loss to the extent the gain reverses a previous impairment loss on the specific
property, with any remaining gain recognized in the statement of changes in equity and presented in the
revaluation reserve in equity. Any loss is recognized in the statement of changes in equity and presented
in the revaluation reserve in equity to the extent that an amount had previously been included in the
revaluation reserve relating to the specific property, with any remaining loss recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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Subsequent costs
The cost of replacing a part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying
amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will
flow to the Company and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part
is derecognised. The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

Derecognition
The carrying amount of an item of Property, Plant & Equipment is derecognized on disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. The gain or loss arising from the
derecognition of an item of Property, Plant & Equipment is included in profit or loss when the item is
derecognized. When replacement costs are recognized in the carrying amount of an item of Property,
Plant and Equipment, the remaining carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. Major
inspection costs are capitalized. At each such capitalization, the remaining carrying amount of the
previous cost of inspections is derecognized.

Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated on the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset, or other amount
substituted for cost, less its residual value. Depreciation is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment, since this
most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied
in the asset. Leased assets are depreciated over a shorter period of the lease term and their useful lives
unless it is reasonably certain that the Company will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.
Land is not depreciated.		

Depreciation
Furniture & Fittings
Equipment
Interior Décor
Motor Cars
Motorcycles
Tools
Cutlery & Crockery
Accounting software

10%
20%
50%
20%
25%
33.33%
50%
20%

Useful Life
10
05
02
05
04
03
02
05

Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use and ceases at a earlier date that the asset is
classified as held for sale and the date that the asset is derecognized.
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and
adjusted if appropriate.
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3.3

Leased assets
Leases in terms which the Company assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
classified as finance leases. Upon initial recognition the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to
the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.
Other leases are operating leases, except for investment property, the leased assets are not recognized
in the Balance Sheet. Investment property held under an operating lease is recognized in the Balance
Sheet at its fair value.

3.4

Impairment
The carrying values of Property, plant & equipment are reviewed for impairment indicators annually
or when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.
If such indications exist and where the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the
assets are written down to their recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss
unless it reverses a previous revaluation surplus for the same asset. The recoverable amount of an asset
is higher of its fair value less cost to sell or its value in use.
An impairment loss in respect of assets other than good will recognized in prior periods, are assessed
at each Balance Sheet date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if
no impairment loss had been recognized.

3.5

Investment Property
Investment properties are those which are held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation
or for both. Investment properties are stated at fair value. An external, independent valuer having an
appropriate recognized professional qualification and recent experience in the location and category of
property being valued, values the portfolio every 3 years. The fair values are based on market values,
being the estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged on the date of valuation between
a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm's length transaction after proper marketing wherein the
parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion.
Valuations reflect, where appropriate; the type of tenants actually in occupation or responsible for
meeting lease commitments or likely to be in occupation after letting of vacant accommodation and
the market's general perception of their credit-worthiness; the allocation of maintenance and insurance
responsibilities between lessor and lessee; and the remaining economic life of the property. It has
been assumed that whenever rent reviews or lease renewals are pending with anticipated reversionary
increases, all notices and where appropriate counter notices have been served validly and within the
appropriate time.
Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value is recognized in profit or loss. Rental income from
investment property is accounted for as described in accounting policy.
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When an item of property, plant and equipment is transferred to investment property following a
change in its use, any differences arising at the date of transfer between the carrying amount of the item
immediately prior to transfering fair value is recognized directly in equity if it is a gain. Upon disposal
of the item the gain is transferred to retained earnings. Any loss arising in this manner is recognized in
profit or loss immediately.
If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, if it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment
and its fair value at the date of reclassification becomes its deemed cost for subsequent accounting.
When the Company begins to redevelop an existing investment property for continued future use as an
investment property, the property remains as an investment property, which is measured based on fair
value model, and is not reclassified as property, plant and equipment during the redevelopment.
A property interest under an operating lease is classified and accounted for as an investment property
on a property-by-property basis when the Company holds it to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or
both such property interest under an operating lease is classified as an investment property and is carried
at fair value. Lease payments are accounted for as described in accounting policy.

3.6

Investment Property under development
Property that is being constructed or developed for future use as investment property is classified as
investment property under development (development projects) and stated at cost until construction or
development is complete, at which time it is reclassified and subsequently accounted for as investment
property. At the date of transfer, the difference between fair value and cost is recorded as income in
profit or loss.
All costs directly associated with the purchase and construction of a property, and all subsequent capital
expenditures for the development qualifying as acquisition costs are capitalized. Borrowing costs are
capitalized if they are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying
asset. Capitalization of borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset are in
progress and expenditures and borrowing costs are being incurred. Capitalization of borrowing costs
may continue until the assets are substantially ready for their intended use.
If the resulting carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is
recognized. The capitalization rate is arrived at by reference to the actual rate payable on borrowings
for development purposes or with regard to that part of the development cost financed out of general
funds, to the average rate.

3.7

Investments

3.7.1. Investment Securities
These are acquired and held for yield or capital growth in medium /long term. Such securities are
recorded at cost. Changes in market values of these securities are not taken into account unless there is
considerable permanent diminution in value. In classifying securities as “Investment”, the Company has
determined that it has both the positive intention and ability to hold the securities until their maturity
date. Unquoted long term investments are stated at cost.
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3.7.2. Other investments
Other investments consist of fixed deposits and debentures.
Debentures are held with the intention to resale over a short period of time. Such securities are recorded
at cost.

3.8

Inventory
Inventories are measured at lower cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventories is based on the
first-in first-out principle, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, production
or conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition.
Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated
costs to sell.

3.9

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are stated at the amounts estimated to be realized after providing for bad
and doubtful debts.

3.10 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and short term deposits. Company overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Company's cash management are included as
components of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of presenting the Cash Flow Statement.
A Cash Flow Statement is prepared under the “direct” method as per Sri Lanka Accounting Standard
09 - Cash Flow Statements.

3.11 Stated Capital
3.11.1 Shares
Company's Stated Capital comprises of ordinary shares, which are classified as equity.

3.12 Provisions
A provision is recognised as a result of a past event, the Company has and present legal or constructive
obligation that can be estimated reliably and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation.

3.13 Employee benefits
3.13.1 Defined benefit plan
A defined benefit plan is a post employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan.
The Company operates an approved Gratuity Fund to facilitate the payments for permanent staff of the
Company.
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The Company's obligation in respect of defined benefit gratuity plans is calculated by estimating the
amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior
periods and discounting that benefit to determine its present value, then deducting the fair value of
any planed assets. The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on Government bonds that have
maturity dates approximating to the terms of the Company's obligations. The calculation is performed
by a qualified actuary using the Projected Unit Credit Method which is the method recommended by
Sri Lanka Accounting Standard 16 (revised 2006) “Employee Benefits” (SLAS 16).
When the benefits of a plan are improved, the portion of the increased benefit relating to past service
by employees is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the average period until the
benefits become vested, to the extent that the benefits vest immediately and the expense is recognized
immediately in profit or loss.
In respect of actuarial gains and losses that arise in calculating the Company's obligation in respect of a
plan, to the extent that any cumulative unrecognized actuarial gain or loss exceeds 10% of the greater
present value of the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets, that portion is recognized
in profit or loss over the expected average remaining working lives of the employees participating in the
plan. Otherwise, the actuarial gain or loss is not recognized.
Monthly provision is made by the Company for the Gratuity Fund, based on a percentage of the basic
salary of employees. The percentage of contributions is determined by the same actuary and retirement
benefits are provided to all permanent staff. The Company carries out an actuarial valuation of the
Gratuity Fund in December each year to ascertain the full liability of the Fund. The valuation method
used by the actuary to value the Fund is the “Projected Unit Credit Method”, the method recommended
by SLAS 16. The demographic assumptions underlying the valuation are retirement age (55 yrs.), early
withdrawals from service and retirement on medical grounds, death before and after retirement etc.
However, under the Payment of Gratuity Act No. 12 of 1983, the liability to an employee arises only
on completion of five years of continual service.

3.13.2 Defined contribution plan.
A defined contribution plan is a post employment plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions to
a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay a further amount. Obligations
for contributions to defined contribution plans are recognized as expense in profit or loss as and when
they are due.

3.13.2.2 (a) Employees' Provident Fund
The Company and employees contribute 12% and 8% respectively on the basic salary of each employee
to the approved private Provident Fund. [Refer Note No. 6]

3.13.2.2 (b) Employees' Trust Fund
The Company contributes 3% of the salary of each employee to the Employees' Trust Fund. The total
amount is recognized as an expense to the Company. Contribution to ETF is disclosed in Note No. 6.
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3.14 Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are stated at their cost.

3.15 Commitments and Contingencies
Commitments and contingencies as at the balance sheet date is disclosed in Note 30 of the financial
statements.

3.16 Events after the Balance Sheet Date
All material and important events which occur after the Balance Sheet date have been considered and
disclosed in Note No. 29 or adjusted as applicable.

3.17 Turnover
3.17.1 Rental income
Rental income from investment property leased out under operating lease is recognized in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives granted are recognized as an integral
part of the total rental income.

3.17.2 Other income
3.17.2.1 Dividends
Dividend income is recognized when the shareholders' right to receive the payment is established.

3.17.2.2 Others
Other income is recognized on an accrual basis. Net Gains and losses of revenue nature on the disposal
of plant and equipment and other non-current assets including investments have been accounted for in
profit or loss, having deducted from proceeds on disposal, the carrying amount of the assets and related
selling expenses.

3.18 Expenses
Expenses are recognized in profit or loss as they are incurred, in the period to which they relate.

3.19 Lease payments
Payments made under operating leases are recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognized as an integral part of the total lease expense,
over the term of the lease. Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between
the finance expense and the reduction of the outstanding liability. Finance expense are allocated to
each period during the lease term in order produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability.
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3.20 Finance income and expenses
Finance income comprise of the interest income on deposit (saving) which is recognized as it accrues
in profit or loss.
Finance costs comprise of interest expense on borrowings, interest on overdrafts, interest on finance
leases and other charges.

3.21 Taxation
3.21.1 Current taxes
The provision for income tax is based on the elements of income and expenditure as reported in the
financial statements and computed in accordance with the provisions of the Inland Revenue Act No 10
of 2006 and subsequent amendments thereon.

3.21.2 Deferred taxation
Deferred taxation is provided using the liability method, providing for temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the tax base of assets and
liabilities, which is the amount attributed to those assets and liabilities for tax purposes.
The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realization or settlement of
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the
reporting date. Deferred tax assets, including those related to temporary tax effects of income tax losses
and credits available to be carried forward, are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the
related tax benefit will be realized.

3.21.3 Economic Service Charge (ESC)
ESC is payable on the liable turnover at specified rates. As per the provision of the Economic Service
Charge Act No. 13 of 2006 and subsequent amendments thereto, ESC is deductable from the income
tax liability. Any unclaimed payment can be carried forward and set off against the income tax payable
as per the relevant provision in the Act.

3.22 Earnings/(Loss) per share
The Company presents basic earnings/(loss) per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. The basic EPS
is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period.

3.23 New Accounting Standards issued but not Effective as At Balance Sheet Date
The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka (ICASL) has issued a new volume of Sri Lanka
Accounting Standards – 2011, applicable for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012. These
Standards have many changes and consequential changes from the adaption of SLAS 44 and 45. These
new Accounting Standards are prefixed both SLFRS and LKAS which correspond to the relevant IFRS and
IAS. Disclosure requirement under SLAS 10.30 and 10.31 have been exempted by the ICASL and therefore
all differences and impacts arising from the new Standards are not presented in these financial statements.
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3.5.24 Comparative Information
The comparative information is re-classified wherever necessary to conform with the current year's
presentation in order to provide a better presentation. The details of restatements are disclosed in Note
33 on pages 78 to 79.

3.5.25 Directors' Responsibility Statement
The Board of Directors of the Company is responsible for the preparation and presentation of these
financial statements. Refer page 44 for the statement of the Directors' Responsibility for financial
reporting.

60

Seylan Developments PLC

Annual Report 2010

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Contd.)
Amounts in Sri Lanka Rupees					

		
2010
			

4

Turnover

Rental income
143,156,566		
		
143,156,566
				

5

2009
Restated /Reclassified

139,751,049
139,751,049

Other Income

Management fees
Profit on disposal property plant & equipment
Dividend income
Work order income
Profit / (loss) from property development projects
Miscellaneous income
		
				

3,487,186		
4,745,980
884
1,070,501
1,532,064
10,836,615

4,000,000
8,278,935
807
726,796
(3,948,981)
192,014
9,249,571

Salary and wages (including Directors' emoluments)
22,054,147
Statutory EPF
2,797,873
Statutory ETF
678,442
Staff allowances
3,089,779
Reversal of provision for retirement benefits (Note 26.1)
(17,121,013)
Other staff expenses
4,047,470		
		
15,546,698
				

30,681,758
2,181,183
546,146
1,869,963
(3,675,356)
3,266,855
34,870,549

6

7

Personnel Cost

Results from Operating Activities			

Results from operating activities are stated after deducting all operating expenses including the
following,			
				
Directors' emoluments
8,727,942
12,380,256
Audit fees-external
525,000
472,500
Non audit fees
439,955
204,000
Depreciation (Note 14)
6,455,880
29,914,809
Legal fees
564,425
625,350
Professional Fee
524,709
1,203,674
				

8

Provision for Doubtful Receivables and Advance Payments

Provision for Naiwala project (Note 16.3)
16,863,063		
Provision for doubtful receivables
30,513,559
Provision for advance payments
6,481,658
Reversal of expenses / payables
(48,660,038)
		
5,198,242
				

40,783,383
8,098,181
48,881,564
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Amounts in Sri Lanka Rupees					

		
2010
			

9

Provision / Impairment for Investments		

Diminution in value of unquoted investments (Note 18 )
Provision for impairment (Note 21)
		
				

10

24,850,000
6,042,601		
30,892,601		

12,180,000
12,180,000

Change in Fair Value of Investment Properties		

Investment property - West tower
-			
		
				

11

2009
Restated /Reclassified

350,567,145
350,567,145

Financing income & expense			

11.1 Finance income
Interest income -saving deposit
		

32,572
32,572

2,997,494
2,997,494

11.2 Finance Expenses
Interest on overdraft
6,170,623
Interest on bank loan
75,587,868
Bank charges
76,325
Debits tax
201,305
Overdue interest
889,171
Interest on leasing
1,036,099
Trustee fees
772,500
		
84,733,891
				
Net Finance Income / Expenses
84,701,319

12

190,316,068

Income Tax Expenses

Current Tax
Social responsibility Levy
under provision for taxation
under provision for SRL
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12,009,591
176,033,789
207,575
299,694
2,343,071
1,615,954
803,888
193,313,562

7,410
111
37,503		
10,501
55,525		

652,797
9,792
662,589
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Amounts in Sri Lanka Rupees					

		
2010
			

2009
Restated /Reclassified

12.1 Reconciliation of Income Tax
Profit / (Loss) as per the Income Statement
(27,684,091)
	Less : Income from other sources
Interest income
32,572
Dividend income
884
Profit on disposal of Property, plant & equipment
4,745,980		
Changes in Fair value of investment property
Reversal of over provision of retirement benefit
17,121,013
		
(49,584,540)
Disallowable expenses
40,971,097
		
(8,613,443)
Allowable expenses
(75,899,291)
Adjusted tax loss
(84,512,734)
				
Statutory income (interest income)
32,572
Less : Tax losses set off
(11,400)
Taxable income
21,172
Tax liability			
Taxable income at 35%
7,410

95,426,954
2,869,437
807
8,278,935
350,567,145
3,675,356
(269,964,726)
130,556,056
(139,408,670)
(75,939,493)
(215,348,163)
2,869,437
(1,004,303)
1,865,134
652,797

Social responsibility levy 1.5%
111
9,792
				
				
In accordance with the BOI agreement company enjoyed a tax exemption period up to 2010, and upon
completion of such exemption period company decided to apply the provisions of the Inland Revenue
Laws for the time being. The management decision will be notified to the Department of Inland Revenue
in due course.
				

13

Earnings/(Loss) Per Share

The computation of basic earnings / (loss) per share is based on the net profit / (loss) attributable to
ordinary shareholders divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the
period.		
				
Profit / (Loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders (Rs)
(27,739,616)
94,764,365
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
73,982,430
73,982,430
Basic earnings / (Loss) per ordinary share (Rs)
(0.37)
1.28
					

63

64

14.1

2,356,664

Net book value as at 31 December 2009

3,078,630

2,077,062		

-

78,498

2,558,184

1,705,457

5,939,031		

1,031,105		

13,932,509

13,932,509

5,494,921 		

119,436,893
29,914,809
(6,775,774)
(113,083,573)
29,492,355
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Comparative amounts of the revaluation reserve in the statement of changes in equity was adjusted to facililate the rectification
of erroneous classification of investment property as owner occupied property. The effect of the above reclassification / restatement
is disclosed in note 33.1.					

602,799

Net book value as at 31 December 2010

Accumulated Depreciation												
Balance as at 01st January
11,016,269
7,137,169
1,705,456
9,633,462		
29,492,356
Charge for the year
1,770,499
1,055,482
485,625
852,727
2,291,547		
6,455,880		
Transfer to/ (from) Freehold/leasehold assets 			
1,864,002		
(6,747,297)
(4,883,295)
Transfers to Investment Property
(2,710,276)
(396,793)
-			
- 			
(3,107,069)
Disposals
(384)
-			
-			
-			
(2,349,627)
(2,350,011)
Balance as at 31 December
10,076,108
7,795,858
2,349,627
2,558,183		
2,828,085		
25,607,861		

14 Property, Plant & Equipment										
						
	Office, Machine &
Furniture & Motor Vehicles	Leasehold	Leasehold	Total Restated /Reclassified
	Equipments
Fittings		Equipments Motor vehicles		
2009
Cost													
Balance as at 01st January
13,372,933		
10,215,800		
-			
4,263,640
15,572,493		
43,424,866		 1,521,539,828
Additions
23,920
53,913		
- 			
- 			
77,833
75,350
Revaluation Surplus
- 			
- 			
- 			
1,481,048,132
Transfers to/ (from) Freehold/leasehold Assets
- 			
-			
2,428,125		
- 			
(2,428,125)
- 			
(4,953,719)
Transfers to Investment Property
(2,710,276)
(396,793)
- 			
-			
(3,107,069) (2,952,239,484)
Disposals
(7,670)
(9,285,178)
(9,292,848)
(2,045,243)
Balance as at 31 December
10,678,907
9,872,920
2,428,125
4,263,640
3,859,190
31,102,782
43,424,864

Amounts in Sri Lanka Rupees
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Amounts in Sri Lanka Rupees					

15

Investment Property				

		
Leasehold Land
Building, Plant &
Property at
			
Machinery
Union Place
					
Balance as at 1st January 2009
- 		 1,151,493,932
Changes in fair value
-		
115,149,393
-		
Prior year adjustments - Revaluation
of investment property (33.1)
1,542,733,585
1,531,840,077
- 		
Reclassification from assets held for sale (17)
250,255,500
Restated balance as at 31st December 2009 1,542,733,585
2,798,483,402
250,255,500
		
Additions during the year
459,990
Balance as at 31st December 2010

1,542,733,585

2,798,943,392

250,255,500

Total

1,151,493,932
115,149,393
3,074,573,662
250,255,500
4,591,472,487
459,990
4,591,932,477

Investment property comprises a number of commercial properties that are leased to third parties and to
Seylan Bank PLC, the Parent Company. Each of the leases contains an initial non-cancellable period of
99 years. Subsequent renewals are negotiated with the lessee. No contingent rents are charged.		
		
In accordance with SLAS 40, a property interest under an operating lease is classified and accounted for
as an investment property on a property-by-property basis when the Company holds it to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation or both. Any such property interest under an operating lease classified as an
investment property is carried at fair value. (Note 32).					

15.1 “The carrying amount of investment property is the fair value of the property as determined by a

registered independent appraiser having an appropriate recognised professional qualification and
recent experience in the location and category of the property being valued. Fair values were
determined having regard to recent market transactions for similar properties in the same location as the
Company's investment property.“				
		
Investment Property				
		
Address
Extent
Date of Valuation
Market Value
No, 90, Galle Road, Colombo 03.
0A - 3R - 24.55 P
29th December 2009
4,341,216,987
No. 257, Union Place, Colombo 02.
0A - 1R - 12.27 P
28th December 2008
250,255,500
				
4,591,472,487
		

15.2 If the land and building were stated at historical cost, the amounts would have been
as follows;				

		
		
Land
Building
Total
Total
				
2010
2009
Cost
640,549,318
831,012,924
1,471,562,242
1,471,191,351
Depreciation
(47,292,564)
(88,209,888)
(135,502,452)
(113,083,573)
Carring Values
593,256,754
742,803,036 1,336,059,790 1,358,107,778
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16

2010

2009

Investments in Property Development Projects		
Restated /Reclassified

		

Ja - Ela Commercial Complex (16.1)					
70,351,000		
70,351,000
Moratuwa Housing Project (16.2)					
140,300,676		
139,148,998
Naiwala Project (16.3)				
- 			
16,863,063
						 210,651,676		 226,363,061
		
Above consists of property developed or constructed for future identification as investment property is
classified as investment property under development. 					

16.1 Ja - Ela Commercial Complex			
			
Balance as at 1st January 					
70,351,000
Addition				
Balance as at 31st December 				
70,351,000
								

70,351,000
-		
70,351,000

16.2 Moratuwa Housing Project			

			
Balance as at 1st January
			
139,148,998
211,000,000
Addition/Transfers
			
1,151,678
(71,851,002)
Balance as at 31st December
			
140,300,676		
139,148,998
		
16.3 Naiwala Project*			
			
Balance as at 1st January					
16,863,063		
18,913,063
Addition/Transfers				
-			
(2,050,000)
Provision for doubtful receivables (Note 8)					
(16,863,063)
Balance as at 31st December				
- 			
16,863,063
		
* The above project was a joint venture project with Ceylinco Investment & Reality Ltd. The investment
of Rs 16,863,063 has been fully provided as there is a remote recoverability of the investment. Provision
was assessed and accounted due to current financial difficulties of the said Company.			
		

17

Asset Held for Sale 			

		

Balance as at 1st January				
-			
250,255,500
Transfer to Investment Property ( Note - 15 )
		
- 			
(250,255,500)
Balance as at 31st December
		
						
Property at No. 257, Union Place Colombo 02 for Rs 250,255,500 categorized under the asset held for
sale in the year 2009 was reclassified as a investment property since the transaction did not materialise
in the year 2010.					
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				2010

2009

18 INVESTMENT Securities
No.of
Market
Cost /
No.of
Market
Cost /
Shares 					
Value
Valuation
Shares 			
Valuation
Value
		
Quoted											
Nations Lanka Finance PLC
200,000 3,460,000		2,000,000		 200,000		2,900,000		2,000,000
CT Land Developers Limited PLC
100
-		
666		
100
2,175
666
City Housing and Real Estate PLC
250
5,200		
2,421		
250
5,313
2,421
Colombo Fort Land & Building Company PLC
100
17,880		
917		
100
3,125
917
Overseas Realty Ceylon PLC
100
1,530		
316		
100
1,550
316
Kelsey Developments PLC
100
1,500		
817		
100
1,100
817
Property Development PLC
100
4,500		
1,728		
100
2,175		
1,728
Colombo Land & Development Company PLC 1,250
24,250		
241		
1,250
8,125		
241
East West Company PLC
200
-		
516		
200
1,650
516
Equity One PLC
100
5,600		
1,348		
100
2,150
1,348
O' Nally Holdings PLC
100
-		
867		
100
3,550
867
York Arcade Holdings PLC
100
2,410		
417		
100		
1,175		
417
Blue Diamonds Jewellery World Wide PLC
170,000 578,000		 382,500		 170,000 340,000		 382,500
		
372,500		4,100,870		2,392,754		 372,500		3,272,088		2,392,754
				
								
Unquoted											
Ceylinco Savings Bank Limited
25,000 			
250,000		 25,000 			
250,000
Ceylinco Venture Capital Investment Limited
95,000 			
950,000
95,000 			
950,000
Ceylinco Sports Complex (Pvt) Limited
220,000 			2,200,000 220,000 			2,200,000
Asian Finance Company Limited
75,000 			
750,000
75,000 			
750,000
Ceycom Global Communication Limited
40,500 			 405,000
40,500				 405,000
Ceylinco International Property Developers (Pvt) Limited 50,000 			
500,000
50,000 			
500,000
Ceyenergy Electronic Company (Pvt) Ltd
15,000 			 150,000
15,000 			 150,000
Ceylinco Swift Care (Pvt) Ltd
75,000 			
750,000
75,000				
750,000
Independent Financial News & Views (Pvt) Ltd 4,900 			 49,000
4,900 			 49,000
Ceylinco International Realty (Pvt) Ltd
200,000 			2,000,000
200,000 			
2,000,000
E - Ceylinco. Com (Pvt) Ltd
60,000 			 600,000
60,000 			 600,000
International Consultancy & Corporate Services (Pvt) Ltd 5,000 			
50,000
5,000 			
50,000
Ceylinco PLC Technology ( Pvt ) Ltd
177,500 			1,775,000 177,500 			1,775,000
The Sitar (Pvt) Ltd
60,000 			
600,000
60,000 			
600,000
Ceylinco Investment and Reality Limited
4,000,000 		40,000,000 		4,000,000 		40,000,000
Ceylinco CISCO Cash Management and
Transport Company Ltd
10,000
100,000
10,000 			
100,000
Seraka Investment Limited
510,000				
5,100,000 510,000 			
5,100,000
Associated Property Developers
100 			
1,069
100 			
1,069
Ceylinco Cisco Ranaviru Services (pvt) Limited
10,000 			
100,000
10,000 			
100,000
		
5,633,000 		
56,330,069 		5,633,000 		
56,330,069
												
	Total		4,100,870 58,722,823			3,272,088 		 58,722,823
Appreciation (Diminution) in Value as
at 31 December			
(56,329,000)				
(31,479,000)
Fair value for the dealing securities				2,393,823					
27,243,823
	Change in appreciation / diminution in
value recognized in profit or loss		
(24,850,000)
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2010
2009
			
Restated /Reclassified

19

Trade & Other Receivables

		
Trade receivables					
Other receivables 					
VAT 					
Trade and other receivables from Related Companies			
						
Provision for doubtful receivables					
						
				

64,131,665		
64,650,736		
6,577,652		
7,623,411
142,983,464
(98,318,089)
44,665,375		

47,744,053
45,435,442
12,012,701
55,636,007
160,828,203
(67,804,693)
93,023,510

2,766,022		
1,415,492
14,935,945
4,314,281
23,431,740
(14,579,839)
8,851,901		

2,766,022
2,248,368
18,709,454
23,723,844
(8,098,181)
15,625,663

75,902,873		
53,858,280
129,761,153

27,021,310
48,881,563
75,902,873

20	other assets			
		
Deposits 					
Prepayments					
Advances					
Plan assets (Note 26.1)					
						
Provision for doubtful receivables					
						
				
20.1 Provision for doubtful receivables			
				
Balance as at 1st January					
Provision during the year					
Balance as at 31st December					
				

21

Short term investments

22

Income tax assets and liabilities

		
Fixed Deposit					
5,942,601		
5,942,601
Debentures 					
200,000
200,000
						
6,142,601		
6,142,601
Provision for Impairments (Note 9)
			
(6,042,601)
						
100,000
6,142,601
				
The impairment provision for the above was made due to the uncertainty of the realisiability of the
assets. The provision include, Fixed Deposit investment in Ceylinco Investment & Reality Ltd and
Debenture investments in Ceylinco Fashion Trend Ltd.			
				
		
As at the beginning of the year
			
Income tax for the period
			
Less: Tax paid					
WHT
			
ESC
			
As at the end of the year					
68

8,716,577
55,525
(6,272,854)
(5,119,654)
(368,811)
(2,989,217)

9,073,710
662,589
(680,890)
(338,832)
8,716,577
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2010
			

23

Stated capital

2009
Restated /Reclassified

		
73,982,430 Ordinary Shares of Rs 10/- each 					
739,824,300		
739,824,300
Share Premium 					
90,760,620
90,760,620
Capital redemption reserve fund 					
525,493,650
525,493,650
						 1,356,078,570 1,356,078,570 		
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to one vote per individual present at meetings of the share
holders and one vote per share in case of a poll and are also entitled to receive dividends as declared
from time to time.		
			
						

24

Interest bearing loans and borrowings	
			
		
Non current interest bearing loans and borrowings				
Secured bank loans 				
-		
44,634,419
Loans from related party				
-		
146,575,642
Finance lease liabilities
			
1,077,315
3,438,628
						
1,077,315
194,648,689
Current interest bearing loans and borrowings					
		
Current portion secured bank loans
			
269,418,780
296,438,871
Unsecured bank loans
			
154,140,211
209,688,430
Current portion loans from related party
			
375,235,247		
59,784,282
Current portion of the finance lease libilities
			
1,238,644
3,905,509
		
			 800,032,882
569,817,092
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12%

12%
Seylan Bank PLC
(Facility amount Rs. 375 Mn.)

Seylan Bank PLC

88,409,722

286,825,526

People's Bank - Nugegoda AWPLR + 6 200,928,470

38,842,007

-

Seylan Merchant Bank PLC 26%

Hatton National Bank PLC AWPLR

-

26%

Seylan Bank PLC

-

29,648,302

25%

-

Rate of Int. Balance as at
p.a.
31/12/2010

Seylan Bank PLC

Deutsche Bank

Name of the Bank

-

-

195,961,804

42,727,497

24,489,378

13,406,339

192,953,585

69,140,885

Balance as at
31/12/2009

Security Pledged

Primary Mortgage over lot Nos 10,11,12,16 and 17 of Moratuwa
Property.

Primary mortgage for 17.6 Mn over unit 3 & 4 of West Tower of ST.
Additional mortgage for 9.4 Mn over Unit 3 & Unit 4 above. Primary
mortgage for 21 Mn over unit No. 8 at Seylan Tower.

The Properties Marked as unit 27,30 & 33 of West Tower of ST. In the
Condominium Plan No 59/2004 dated 4/12/2004

PMB for Rs 187 Million over 3 condominium unit 27,30 & 33 (7th,
8th 9th, Floors ) of Seylan Towers, Colombo 03.

PMB for Rs 11 Million over the condominium unit no 40-14th floor
(Level 15) of Seylan Towers, Colombo 03.

Loan to be settled PMB for Rs 21 Million over 8 in ( Lunch room ) of Seylan Towers,
in full June 2011
Colombo 03.

Loan to be settled PMB for Rs 17.6 Million and Additional MBD for Rs 9.4 Million over
in full June 2011
condominium unit of 3 & 4 ( Ground & 1st Floor ) of Seylan Towers,
Colombo 03.

Loan to be settled The Properties marked units 13, 14,16, 17,34, & 35 of West Tower of
in full June 2011
ST. Bearing assessment Nos. 90 /2/1, 90 2/2, 90 3/2, 90 9/1 90 9/2 of
condominium Plan No.59/2004 dated 4/12/2004.

Loan to be settled Registered Primary Floating Mortgage Bond Rs. 260 Mn over the Level
in full March 2011 5 - 9 of the West Tower of Seylan Towers.

Fully settled

Fully settled

Fully settled

Loan to be settled Raised Rs. 216 Mn securitizing the building rent receivable.
in full November
2011

Repayment terms

24.1 Liabilities - Loans ,Borrowings and Security		
							

Amounts in Sri Lanka Rupees
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Total

HDFC

Ceylinco Investment &
Reality Ltd

Ceylinco Grameen

Name of the Bank

26%

15%

8,753,725

107,280,211

102,408,219

Balance as at
31/12/2009

798,794,238 757,121,643

-

68,140,211

86,000,000

Rate of Int. Balance as at
p.a.
31/12/2010

24.1 Liabilities - Loans ,Borrowings and Security (Cont.)

Amounts in Sri Lanka Rupees

Fully settled

-

-

Repayment terms

Notes to the Financial Statements (Contd.)

Land marked Lot 1 depicted in plan No.2816, called Nugawaralanda
situated at Dedigamuwa within Kaduwela.

Promissory Notes

3)New Mortgage Bonds to be executed up to 60% of forced sale
value over units 21,41,42,24,36 & 37 (5th,15th,16th,6th, 10th & 11th
floors ) of Seylan Towers at No 90 Galle Road, Colombo 03.

2) SMB of LKR 6 Mio over Lot A in Plan No. 2372 dated 18/10/2008
prepared by S G Ranasinghe ( Licensed Surveyor ) in the extent of
0A-1R-12.27P Property situated at No.257, Union Place, Colombo 02.

1) SMB of LKR 19 Mio over the Condominium unit no 40-14th floor
(level 15) of East tower of Seylan Towers situated at No 90 Galle
Road, Colombo 03

Additional Security

PMB for Rs 150 Million over Lot A in Plan No. 2372 dated
18/10/2008 prepared by S G Ranasinghe (Licensed Surveyor ) in the
extent of 0 A -1R - 12.27P Property Situated at No 257, Union Place
Colombo 02.

Security Pledged
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2010
			

2009
Restated / Reclassified

24.2 Finance lease liabilities
		
Lease		 Interest		 Total		 Lease		 Interest		 Total
Finance lease liabilities are payable as follows;												
Less than one year
1,528,163 (289,519 ) 1,238,644		4,865,449		 (959,940 ) 3,905,509
Between one to five years
1,172,600		 (95,285 ) 1,077,315 3,878,041 (439,413 ) 3,438,628
Over five years
-			
-			
-			
-			
-			
		
2,700,763 (384,804 ) 2,315,959 8,743,490 (1,399,353) 7,344,137

25

Deferred tax assets and liability

					
		
Balance
Recognized in
		
01 Jan 2010
Profit or loss
Property Plant and equipment and
investment property (Note 25.1)
Tax losses carried forward (Note 25.2)
-		
Revaluation gain (Note 25.3)
334,155,380
		
334,155,380

Recognized
directly in equity

-		

-

-

-			
-			

Balance
31 Dec 2010
-		
334,155,380
334,155,380

No provision has been made in respect of deferred taxation as the Company has incurred tax losses and
the temporary differences are not expected to reverse and it is not probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the Company can utilise the amount of taxable temporary differences
and the resultant tax effects are as follows.

25.1 Unrecognized deferred tax liability

		
2010
			
Property plant and equipment and investment property
Total taxable temporary difference
Unrecognized deferred tax liability

(362,289,867)
(362,289,867)
(126,801,453)

2009
Restated /Reclassified
(325,692,560)
(325,692,560)
(113,992,396)

25.2 Unrecognized deferred tax assets

					
Tax losses carried forward
782,507,699		
Total taxable temporary difference
782,507,699
Unrecognized deferred tax assets
273,877,694

697,994,965
697,994,965
244,298,238

25.3 Deferred tax liability on revaluation gain on transfer from owner occupied property to investment
property amounting to Rs. 334,155,380 was recognized as a deferred tax liability for the preceding
financial year, and the comparative amounts of the revaluation reserve in the statement of changes in
equity have been modified accordingly. (Note 33.2)

25.4 As proposed in the budget 2011 current income tax rate of 35% will be reduced to 28%. However the
Company has considered tax rate at 35% for deferred taxation on revaluation gain. As the new rate is
not yet substantively enacted.
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2010
			

2009
Restated /Reclassified

26

Other Liabilities						
			
Trade payables
19,596,308
12,618,040
Trade and other payables to related companies
76,581,977
Other payables
88,527,412
49,341,106
Accrued expenses
72,186		
1,105,577
Rent in advance and security deposits
27,975,394
19,638,108
Defined benefit obligations (26.1)
12,806,733
		
136,171,300
172,091,541
26.1 Plan Assets

				
The amount recognized in the Balance Sheet				
Present Value of Defined Benefit Obligations - ( Note 26.1.b ) 9,351,076		
28,864,472
Fair Value of Plan Assets - ( Note 26.1.c )
(13,665,357)
(16,057,739)
Unrecognized Actuarial Gain or ( Loss) - ( Note 26.1.d)
Unrecognized Past Service Gain Non Vested - ( Note 26.1.e)
Provision for Defined Benefit Obligations
(4,314,281)
12,806,733
					

26.1.a Plan Assets consist the following

				
Investments in repo and fixed deposits
13,428,763
Cash balance
236,594
Provision for Defined Benefit Obligations
13,665,357
					

12,557,739
3,500,000
16,057,739

26.1.b Movement in the Present Value of Defined Benefit Obligations

				
Liability for Defined Benefit Obligations as at 1 January
28,864,472		
32,172,964
Current Service Cost
951,298		
2,969,981
Interest Cost
3,175,092
3,860,756
Unrecognised actuarial (Gains) / Losses
(15,622,167)
544,129
Payments made ( including benefits paid by the Plan) in 2010
(8,017,619)
(10,683,358)
Liability for Defined Benefit Obligations as at 31st December
9,351,076
28,864,472
					

26.1.c Movement in Plan Assets

				
Fair value of Plan Assets as at 1 January
Expected return on Plan Assets
Contribution paid into Plan
Benefits paid by the Plan
Unrecognised actuarial Gains / (Loss) on Plan Assets
Fair value of Plan Assets as at 31 December

16,057,739		
1,028,172
(8,017,619)
4,597,065
13,665,357		

15,690,875
2,126,114
(10,683,358)
8,924,108
16,057,739
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2010
			

2009
Restated /Reclassified

26.1.d Unrecognized actuarial (Gain) or Loss

				
Balance as at 1st January				
Actuarial (Gain) / Loss for year - Obligation
(15,622,167)
544,129
Actuarial (Gain) / Loss for year - Plan Assets
(4,597,065)
(8,924,108)
Actuarial Gain /( Loss) immediately recognised
20,219,232
8,379,979
Balance as at 31st December
					

26.1.e Unrecognised Past Service Cost Non Vested Benefits
				
Balance as at 1st January
Amount Recognized in the Income Statement
Balance as at 31st December

-

-

951,298
3,175,092
(1,028,171)
(20,219,232)
(17,121,013)

2,969,981
3,860,756
(2,126,114)
(8,379,979)
(3,675,356)

					

26.1.f Amount Recognized in the Income Statement

				
Current Service Cost
Interest Cost
Expected return on Plan Assets
Actuarial (Gain) / Loss immediately recognised
		

26.1.g Actuarial Assumptions				

				
Normal retirement age
55 years
55 years
					
Rate of discount
8%		
11%
					
Salary increase
Long term salary escalation rate
Salary escalation rate of 12%.
		
of 5%. Next increment due on
Next increment due on
		
01st April 2011
01st April 2010
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27

Related Party transactions					
Parent and the ultimate controlling party					
The Company is a subsidiary of Seylan Bank PLC, which owns 50.29% of controlling interest of the
Company.					

Transactions with the key management personnel				
According to Sri Lanka Accounting Standard 30 (revised 2005) - Related Party Disclosure, Key
Management Personnel are those having authority for planning, directing and controlling the activities
of the entity. Accordingly, Seylan Developments PLC considers its Board of Directors, General Manager
/ Chief Executive Officer (GM / CEO) and Key Employees and their immediate family members have
been classified as Key Management Personnel of the Company.
				
Immediate family member is defined as spouse or dependent. Dependent is defined as anyone who
depends on the respective Director for more than 50% of his / her financial needs.		
				
Mr. R.Nadarajah is the Chairman of this Company is also a Director of Seylan Bank PLC.		
				
Key management personnel have transacted with the Company during the period as follows:		
a. Loans given to Key Management Personnel				
		
2010		
2009
Balance as at 31st December

2,040,000

2,265,000

Above interest free loan was given to the former Director / General Manager Mr M L P Jayathilaka of
the Company. (Ceased with effect from 10th October 2010.) No impairment losses have been recorded
against the above balance outstanding during the period and no specific allowance has been made for
impairment losses on the above either.
				
b. Key Management Personnel compensation for the period comprised:			
			
		
2010		
2009
Short term employee benefits
8,727,942
12,380,256
Post employment benefits
329,135
		
In addition to their salaries, the Company also provides non cash benefits to Directors and executive
officers and contribute to post employement defined benefit plan on their behalf.		
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c. Key Management Personnel and Director transactions				
		
Number of key management personnel and their related parties hold positions in other entities that result
them having control or significant influence over financial or operating policies of these entities.		
A numeber of these entities transacted with the Company during the year. The terms and conditions
of the transactions with Key Management Personnel and their related parties were no more favourable
than those available or which might reasonably be expected to be available on a similar transaction to
Non - Key Management Personnel related entities on arm's length basis.			
The aggregrate value of transactions and outstanding balances related to Key Management Personnel
and entities over which they have control or significant influence were as follows.

27.1 Related Party transactions
Parties
accomodated

Director / Key
Management Personnel
(Relationship with
Seylan Developments PLC)

Seylan Bank Mr R Nadarajah - Chairman
PLC
Mr S Palihawadana - Director
Mr V R de Silva - Director
Mr C Kotigala - Director
Mr K Rathnayaka (Executive Director/Acting General Manager)
Mr M A D A I Madurapperuma - Director
(Resigned on 7th April 2010)
Rear Admiral B A J G Peiris - Director
(Resigned on 7th April 2010)

Note

Loans and
advances from
Seylan Bank

I

Administrative Services
(Rent/Security
deposit/Rent
Advanced etc..

251,778,404

II

Sri Lanka
Insurance
Corporation
Limited

Insurance

III

Dr N H Godahewa
(Resigned on 30th June 2010)
Mr M De Alwis

87,903,585

6,170,226

Administrative
services

Mr P G S Kariyawasam
(Resigned on 14th May 2010)

Transaction value
Balance
for the year ended outstanding as
31 December
at 31 December
2010
2010

Bank charges
(OD interest /
Debit tax and
Bank charges,
etc..)

Seylan Bank Mr R Nadarajah - Chairman
Asset
Mr S Palihawadana - Director
Management
Mr M A D A I Madurapperuma - Director
Ltd

Mr P Kudabalage
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-
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(I)

Mr. R Nadarajah is an Executive Director of Seylan Bank, the parent Company of Seylan Developments
PLC. The Company has obtained number of loans and advances from Seylan Bank PLC as follows.

		
Term loans amounting to Rs. 283.65Mn and Rs. 87.90 Mn at an interest rate of 12%.
		
Balance outstanding as at 31 December 2010 is Rs. 371,558,394
		
Overdraft facility of Rs. 1,552,902					
Others amounting to Rs. 3,676,854					
						
(II) Mr. S Palihawadana, Mr R Nadarajah and Mr M A D I Madurapperuma (Resigned on 7th April 2010)
were Directors of Seylan Bank Asset Management Ltd which the Company has provided number of
administartive serivces as mentioned in the above note. (Before 31/3/2010).		
				
(III) Mr. P G S Kariyawasam (Resigned on 14th May 2010) and Dr. N H Godahewa (Resign on 30th
June 2010), Mr. M De Alwis and Mr. Kudabalage Directors of Seylan Bank PLC, also holds office at
Sri Lanka Insurance Corporation Limited as Chairman and Director respectively. The Company has
obtained various insurance coverages for the year ended 31st December 2010 from Sri Lanka Insurance
Corporation.						
d. Seylan Developments Employees' Gratuity Trust Fund				
		
Following Directors / key employees of the company are also trustees of the Seylan Developments
Employees' Gratuity Trust Fund.
		
		
		
		
		

-

Mr
Mr
Mr
Mr
Mr

S R Wijesinghe
S Palihawadana
R De Silva
C Kotigala
K Rathnayaka

The above trust fund has invested in Repo's at Seylan Bank amounting Rs. 8,013,906. The contribution
to the said fund by Seylan Developments PLC is Nil for the year ended 31st December 2010. (2009 - Nil)

28

Litigation and claims					
There are no litigation and claims against the Company, other than the followings;

(a)

Income tax for the year of assessment 2005/06 (Rs 9,287,489/-) and 2006/07 (Rs 14,028,233/-) determined
by commissioner General of Inland Revenue (assessment no: 8740923 & 8240889) have been referred
to the Board of Review. Board of Review has not yet scheduled date of hearing. Company is of the view
that the above assessment would not have any material impact on the Financial Statements.

29

Post balance Sheet Events				
There have been no material events after the balance sheet date that would require adjustments to /or
disclosure in the Financial Statements.
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30

Commitments and contingencies				
There were no contingent liabilities outstanding as at the Balance Sheet date.

31

Capital commitments					
There were no material capital commitments as at the Balance Sheet date except for the following.

The following corporate guarantees are given for following companies.
					
Company		Facility
Financial
				 Institution
					
Ceylinco Industries (pvt) Ltd		
29,000,000
Peoples Bank
Ceylinco Packaging Co. Ltd		
38,000,000
Peoples Bank
				

32

Operating Leases					

32.1 Leases as lessee						
					
The Company had entered in to a 99 year operating lease with the UDA (Urban Development Authority)
with the view of set up/conduct and operate a business for the construction of a office and apartment
complex on the Year of 1992. The Company paid a nominal rent to UDA for the occupying the land.
					

32.2 Leases as lesser						
					
The Company leases out its investment property held under operating leases (Note 15). The future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases are as follows:
				
		
2010
2009

Less than one year
179,421,280		
168,825,608		
Between one year and five years
1,088,388,518		
1,039,874,965		
More than five years
13,456,596,000		
12,830,746,208		
					
During the year ended 31 December 2010 Rs. 143,156,566 was recognized as rental income in profit
or loss (2009: Rs. 139,751,049).						

33

Comparative Information					

					
The following comparative figuers have been restated / reclassified in the year 2010 financial statements
to maintain comparability of financial statements in order to provide a better presentation.		
			
Balance Sheet	As Disclosed	Adjustment	Reclassified
		
2009		 2009
Property plant and equipment
Investment property
Deferred tax liability
Defined benefit obligation
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1,372,040,288
1,266,643,325
- 		
28,864,472

(1,358,107,779)
3,324,829,162 		
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(16,057,739)

13,932,509
4,591,472,487
334,155,380
12,806,733
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	Income Statement	As Disclosed	Adjustment	Reclassified
		
2009		 2009
Change in fair value of investment properties 115,149,393
235,417,752 		
350,567,145
Provison for defined benefit obligation
2,936,812
738,544 		
3,675,356
Retained earnings
133,875,927
(16,276,363)
117,599,564
Revaluation reserve
926,339,375
1,146,892,751		
2,073,232,126

33.1 Reclassification of owner occupied property to investment property			
		
During the year, Company reclassified following assets included in property plant and equipment as
investment property.					

		
Cost	Accumulated
Market value
			
depreciation		
Land
640,549,318
(39,413,808)
1,542,733,585
Building
749,420,002
(46,249,216)
2,325,274,484
Office machine and equipments
81,222,031
(27,420,549)
473,208,917
		
1,471,191,351
(113,083,573)
4,341,216,986
					
The Company adjusted the comparative amounts in the balance sheet and reclassified the above property
as an investment property as it had erroneously treated as property plant and equipment in the year
2009. Above assets were transferred to investment property at its fair value, which was determined on the
basis of a valuation by a professionally qualified independent appraiser. The revaluation gain amounting
to Rs. 1,481,048,131 arising from the above transfer was adjusted to the comparative amounts of the
revaluation reserve.
					
The comparative amounts for change in fair value of invetsment property included in the Income
Statement was adjusted to rectify the impact on profit / loss.
		
		

33.2 Deferred tax liability on revaluation gain on transfer from owner occupied property to
investment property			
Deferred tax liability amounting to Rs. 334,155,380 on revaluation gain on transfer from owner occupied
to investment property was not accounted for the year 2009. Comparative amounts in the revaluation
reserve and in the balance sheet was adjusted in order to facilitate the recognition of the above
mentioned deferred tax liability.
				
					

33.3 The comparative figures of Defined Benefit obligation and Plan Assets have been
restated in the 2009 Financial Statements as follows.
		
					
			
Plan Assets
Provision for
				
the year
As per the Financial Statements Published in 2009
		
		
(2,936,812)
As per the Financial Statements Restated in 2010			
16,057,739
(3,675,356)
Change			
(16,057,739)
(738,544)
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Restated /Reclassified
2010

2009

Revenue				
Interest		

32,572

2,997,494

Rental Income			

143,156,566		

139,751,049

Other Income			

10,836,615		

9,249,571

Changes in fair Value		

-			

350,567,145

	Total Revenue			
Segment Depreciations			

154,025,753
6,455,880		

502,565,259
29,914,809

Segment result				
Profit / (Loss) from Operations			

(27,684,091)

95,426,954

Income tax expense			

(55,525)

(662,589)

	Net Profit / (Loss) for the year			

(27,739,616)

94,764,365

			
OTHER INFORMATION				
Segment assets			

31,102,782

43,424,864

Segement Amortisations				
	Total Assets			

4,873,214,050

4,978,016,090

Segment liabilities			

1,354,043,406

1,431,105,830

Shareholders Funds			

3,519,170,644

3,546,910,260

	Total liabilities			

4,873,214,050

4,978,016,090

Cash flows from Operating activities		(47,806,209)

(54,581,666)

Cash flows from Investing activities			

5,116,021

207,904,365

Cash flows from Financing activities			

110,880,585

(196,349,108)

(77,833)

(75,350)

Capital Expenditure			
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Range Of Share Holding

No Of Share
Holders

Total Number
Of Shares

% As At
31.12.2010

31.12.2009

1 - 1,000

3,581

832,022

1.12

1.16

1,001 - 5,000

1,652

3,473,256

4.69

5.1

5,001 - 10,000

307

2,076,091

2.81

3.32

10,001 - 50,000

310

6,267,555

8.47

10.1

50,001 - 100,000

44

3,289,728

4.45

4.07

100,001 - 500,000

32

6,792,256

9.18

6.73

500,001 - 1,000,000

10

6,880,038

9.3

5.66

Over 1,000,000

5

44,371,484

59.98

63.86

TOTAL

5,941

73,982,430

100

100

					
					
Public Share Holding
48.51%
No of Share Holders as at 31st December 2010 - 5,941
					

DIRECTORS' SHAREHOLDINGS 				
Name Of The Director
R Nadarajah
S R Wijesinghe

No Of Shares No Of Shares
12/31/2010
12/31/2009
-

-

5,740

10,840

SHARE PRICES
Rs
25

H L Gunasekara

1,000

1,000

S Palihawadana

-

-

110

N/A

C Kotigala

-

N/A

K Ratnayaka

-

N/A

M A D A I Madurapperuma
(resigned w.e.f 7th Apr 2010)

N/A

1,530

Rear Admiral B A J G Peiris
(Resigned on 7th April 2010)

N/A

-

M L P Jayatilaka (ceased
on 10th Oct 2010

N/A

10,200

Year Ended

Highest

V R De Silva

VALUE

20

15

10

5

0

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
YEAR
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Twenty Major Shareholders
			
Name Of Shareholders

No.Of Shares
31-12-2010

%

No.Of Shares
31-12-2009

%

1.

Seylan Bank PLC

37,203,584

50.29

2.

Mr. K D D Perera

3,700,000

5.00

3.

Mrs. M M Udeshi (DFSC)

1,287,900

1.74

4.

Amina Investments Ltd

1,150,000

1.55

-

5.

First Capital Markets Ltd

1,030,000

1.39

235,000

6.

Mr. A A Salehabhai

978,200

1.32

-

-

7.

Dr. T Senthilverl

829,600

1.12

-

-

8.

Swiss Lloyd Ltd

784,900

1.06

-

-

9.

Mr. A Sithampalam

741,300

1.00

581,700

0.79

10.

Employee's Trust Fund Board

633,800

0.86

1,989,000

2.69

11.

Asian Guild Financial Services (Pvt) Ltd

621,303

0.84

621,303

0.84

12.

Zagara Investment Consultants (Pvt) Ltd

609,423

0.82

621,614

0.84

13.

Mr. S Kader

593,700

0.80

-

14.

Ceylinco Insurance Co.PLC - A/C No. 02

579,750

0.78

1,235,250

1.66
1.15

(General Fund)

37,203,584 50.29
-

-

1,287,900

1.74
0.32

-

15.

Mr. M M Udeshi

508,062

0.69

853,462

16.

Mr. B C Tay

481,900

0.65

-

-

17.

Pan Asia Banking Corporation PLC

440,000

0.59

-

-

Mr. W M Seneviratne
18.

Devi Holdeing (Pvt) Ltd

398,700

0.54

-

-

19.

Pershing LLC S/Aaverbach Graison & Co.

389,400

0.53

-

-

20

Dee Investments (Pvt) Ltd

340,000

0.46

-

-
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Balance Sheet											
Assets											
Property , Plant & Equipments
5,494,921
13,932,509 1,402,102,935 1,433,335,254 1,446,381,065 1,461,744,687
Investment Property
4,591,932,477 4,591,472,487 1,151,493,932 1,226,544,412 1,226,957,424 		1,022,768,646
Investment - Security & Projects
213,045,499 253,606,884 498,331,609 605,761,760 457,226,858 405,118,623
Current Asset
62,741,153 119,004,210 463,530,345 453,173,122 173,093,056 230,198,677
Total Assets
4,873,214,050 4,978,016,090 3,515,458,821 3,718,814,548 3,303,658,403 3,119,830,633
Current Liabilities
940,810,711 821,301,761 649,458,891 424,589,772 336,519,415 186,136,730
Non Current Liabilities
413,232,695 609,804,069 576,065,981 574,832,260 427,456,401 413,621,183
Total Liabilities
1,354,043,406 1,431,105,830 1,225,524,872
999,422,032
763,975,816
599,757,913
Net Assets
3,519,170,644 3,546,910,260 2,289,933,949 2,719,392,516 		 2,539,682,587 2,520,072,720
Capital & Reserves											
Stated Capital
1,356,078,570 1,356,078,570 1,356,078,570 1,356,078,570 1,356,078,570 1,356,078,570
Revaluation Reserve
2,073,232,126 2,073,232,126 926,339,375 926,339,375 		 926,339,374 1,090,316,291
Retained Earning
89,859,948 117,599,564
7,516,004 436,974,571 257,264,643
73,677,859
Shareholder's Fund
3,519,170,644 3,546,910,260 2,289,933,949 2,719,392,516 2,539,682,587 2,520,072,720
Number of Shares
73,982,430
73,982,430
73,982,430
73,982,430
73,982,430
73,982,430
Earning/(Loss) Per Share
(0.37 )
1.28 		
(5.30 )
3.03 		
0.67
0.55
Net Asset Per Share
47.57
47.94
30.95
36.76
34.33
34.06
Dividend Per Share
-		
-			
.50		
.40
Number of Staff
35
54
48
52
52 		
47
Market Value Per Share Year End
17.00
9.50
4.50
9.00
8.25
5.75

2004		
711,251,217
140,015,274
571,235,943
711,251,217
(93,652,335 )
617,598,882
(36,582,821 )
581,016,061
581,016,061
(540,000,000)
41,016,061

2002		
131,867,111 		
114,460,091		
17,407,020
131,867,111		
(89,678,615 )
42,188,496
(64,269,324 )
(22,080,828 )
(22,080,828 )
(22,080,828 )

2001
104,313,607
100,752,691
3,560,916
104,313,607
(82,904,720 )
21,408,887
(30,592,756 )
(9,183,869 )
-		
(9,183,869 )
-		
(9,183,869 )

1,262,189,990 1,259,977,985 		 1,340,691,281
858,671,812 858,106,236 		 857,919,947
11,122,823
7,666,323 		
7,165,222
121,970,076 152,958,025
2,253,954,701 2,278,708,569 		 2,205,776,450
159,378,609 140,538,775
84,475,929
294,938,133 366,669,885 394,728,051
454,316,742
507,208,660
479,203,980
1,799,637,959 1,771,499,909 		 1,726,572,470

2003		
154,391,595
132,303,103
22,088,492
154,391,595 		
(78,578,108 )
75,813,487
(46,185,537 )
29,627,950
29,627,950
29,627,950

1,356,078,570 1,356,078,570 1,356,078,570 		 1,356,078,570
1,090,316,291 436,914,243 438,404,143 		 439,797,938
47,661,208
6,645,146 (22,982,804 ) 20,694,302
2,494,056,069 1,799,637,959 1,771,499,909 		 1,816,570,810
72,531,795
72,531,795
72,531,795
72,531,795
0.57 		
0.41
(0.30 )
(0.13 )
34.39
24.81
24.42
23.80
47
38
38
44
3.00
3.00 		
3.75		
4.25

1,486,641,890 		
1,022,791,703
11,122,823
256,106,460
2,776,662,876
90,125,494
192,481,373
282,606,867
2,494,056,009

2010		 2009 Restated
2008
2007		
2006		
2005		
153,993,181
149,000,620
186,770,518
209,413,432
217,968,858
170,745,893
143,156,566 139,751,049 148,881,839 142,445,934 141,283,563 117,962,108
10,836,615
9,249,571
37,888,679
66,967,498
76,685,295
52,783,785
153,993,181 149,000,620 186,770,518 209,413,432 217,968,858 170,745,893
Operating Expenses
(60,885,110 ) (152,763,179) (182,679,882 ) (148,164,909 ) (124,650,360 ) (104,609,859 )
Operating Profit
93,108,071 		 (3,762,559 )
4,090,636
61,248,523
93,318,498
66,136,034
Changess In Fair Values
-			 350,567,145 (285,392,925 ) 203,775,766
Finance Cost
(120,792,162 ) (251,377,632 ) (104,103,440 ) (26,571,681 ) (27,358,473 ) (21,382,830 )
Profit Befor Tax
(27,684,091 ) 95,426,954 (385,405,729 ) 238,452,608
65,960,025
44,753,204
Tax
(55,525 )
(662,589 )
(7,061,622 ) (14,145,386 ) (16,757,186 )
(4,230,195)
Profit/(Loss) After Tax
(27,739,616 ) 94,764,365 (392,467,351 ) 224,307,222
49,202,839
40,523,009
Transfer To Capital Redemption Reserve Fund
- 			
Profit
/(Loss)
for
the
year
(27,739,616
)
94,764,365
(392,467,351
)
224,307,222
49,202,839
40,523,009
												

Description
Total Income
Rent Income
Other Income

Amounts in Sri Lanka Rupees
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Notice of Meeting
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Nineteenth
Annual General Meeting of Seylan Developments PLC
will be held on 31st March 2011 at 9.30 a.m. at the
“Raja Bojun” Restaurant, Seyaln Towers, No.90, Galle
Road, Colombo 3.

6.

To re-elect Mr. P.Saravanapavan who retires in
terms of Articles 85 (a) being a director appointed
during the year.

7.

To re-appoint the retiring auditors, M/s KPMG
Ford Rhodes Thornton & Company Chartered
Accountants and to authorize the Directors to
determine their remuneration.

8.

To authorize the Directors to determine
contributions to charities and other donations for
the year 2011.

9.

To transact any other business of which due
notice has been given.

AGENDA
1.

To receive and adopt the Report of the Directors
and the Statement of Audited Accounts for the
year ended 31st December 2010 and to receive
the Report of the Auditors thereon.

2.

To re-elect Mr. S.Palihawadana, the Director who
retires by rotation in terms of Article 93(a) of the
Company's Articles of Association.

3.

To re-elect Mr. H.L.Gunasekera Director who
retires by rotation in terms of Article 93 (a) of the
Company's Articles of association.

4.

To re-elect Mr. R.M.K.K.B.Rathnayaka who
retires in terms of Articles 85 (a) being a Director
appointed during the year.

5.

To re-elect Mr. C.Kotigala who retires in terms of
Articles 85 (a) being a director appointed during
the year.
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BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECOTS OF
SEYLAN DEVELOPMENTS PLC
SSP Corporate Services (Pvt) Ltd

Secretaries
7th March 2011

FORM OF PROXY
I/We, ……………………………………………..................……............................................................................…
of ……………………………………………..................……...................................................................................…
being a member/members of Seylan Developments PLC hereby appoint Mr/Mrs/Ms ……..……………......……......
............................................................................................................ (NIC No.………………………………………)
of …………………………………………………………………………...........................................................……….
Whom failing,
Ramanathan Nadarajah of Colombo 07

Whom failing

Sanka Ravi Wijesinghe of Colombo 04

Whom failing

Hiran Lal Gunasekara of Gonawala

Whom failing

Somadasa Palihawadana of Kotte

Whom failing

Vasantha Ranaraj De Silva of Ethul Kotte

Whom failing

Chandrasiri Kotigala of Colombo 05

Whom failing

Rathnayaka Mudiyanselage Kapila Keerthi Bandara Rathnayaka of Athurugiriya

Whom failing

Ponniah Saravanapavan of Dehiwala
as my/our proxy to represent me/us and vote and speak for me/us on my/our behalf as indicated below at the
Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on Thursday 31st March 2011 at 9.30 am and at any adjournment there and at every poll which may be taken in consequence thereof.
Please indicate your preference by placing a () against the Resolution Number.
1.

To receive and consider the Report of the Board of Directors and the
audited financial statements for the year ended 31st December 2010
and to receive the Report of the Auditors thereon.

2.

To re-elect Mr. S. Palihawadana, the Director who retires by rotation in
terms of Article 93(a) of the Company's Articles of Association.

3.

To re-elect Mr. H.L.Gunasekera the Director who retires by rotation in
terms of Article 93(a) of the Company's Articles of Association.

4.

To re-elect Mr. R.M.K.K.B.Rathnayaka who retires in terms of Articles
85 (a) being a director appointed during the year.

5.

To re-elect Mr. C. Kotigala who retires in terms of Articles 85 (a) being
a director appointed during the year.

6.

To re-elect Mr. P.Sarawanapavan who retires in terms of Articles 85 (a)
being a director appointed during the year.

7.

To re-appoint the auditors M/s KPMG Ford Rhodes Thornton &
Company Charted Accountants until the conclusion of the next Annual
General Meeting and to authorize the Directors to determine their
remuneration.

8.

To authorize the Directors to determine contributions to charities and
other donations for the year 2011.

As witness my/our hand/s this ……...................……………….. day of …….....................…….2011

.......................................
NIC Number/Reg. No

.....................................
(Signatures)

INSTRUCTIONS FOR THE COMPLETION OF FORM OF PROXY
1.

Please complete the Form of Proxy after filling in legibly your full name and address and by signing
in the space provided.

2.

Please return the completed Form of Proxy to the Company after deleting one or the other of the
alternative words indicated by asterisks in the body of the form and by indicating with an ‘X' in the
space given against each resolution how you wish your vote to be cast.

3.

The completed Form of Proxy should be deposited at the office of the SSP CORPORATE SERVICES
(PVT) LTD at No. 101, Inner Flower Road, Colombo 03, 48 hours before the time appointed for the
holding of the meeting.

4.

If the proxy has been signed by an Attorney the relative Power of Attorney should accompany the
completed proxy for registration, if such Power of Attorney has not been registered with the Company.

5.

If there is any doubt as to how the proxy should vote by reason of the manner in which instructions
under (2) above have been carried out, the proxy holder may vote as he thinks fit.

6.

If the shareholder is a Company or body corporate, a form of Corporate Representation executed under
its Common Seal in accordance with its Articles of Association or Constitution should be submitted.

7.

Shareholders/Proxy attending the Annual General Meeting are kindly requested to bring with them their
National Identity Card or any other form of valid identification

NOTES

NOTES

Corporate Information
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

BANKERS

R Nadarajah

Bank of Ceylon
Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC
Deutsche Bank AG
Hatton National Bank PLC
People's Bank
Seylan Bank PLC

Chairman

S R Wijesinghe
Deputy Chairman

H L Gunasekara
Director

NAME OF THE COMPANY

S Palihawadana

Seylan Developments PLC

Director

V R De Silva
Director

K Rathnayaka

ACCOUNTING YEAR
December 31st

AUDITORS

Executive Director/Acting General Manager

M/s KPMG Ford Rhodes Thornton & Co.
Chartered Accountants

C Kotigala

TAX IDENTIFICATION NUMBER

Director

134003650

SECRETARIES & REGISTRARS

TAX CONSULTANT

SSP Corporate Services (Pvt) Ltd,
No. 101, Inner Flower Road,
Colombo 03.
(Appointed on 17th January 2011)

M/s Amarasekara & Co.
Chartered Accountants

LAWYERS
Mr Vipula De Silva
Attorney-at-Law & Notary Public

REGISTERED OFFICE
97, Hyde Park Corner,
Colombo 2.

BUSINESS ADDRESS
Level 15,
Seylan Towers,
90, Galle Road,
Colombo 3.
Phone : 011-2452697-8
Fax
: 011-2423249
E-mail : seylanplc@sltnet.lk
Website : www.seylandevelopments.com

LEGAL STATUS
Incorporated under the Companies Act No 17
of 1982.
Date of Incorporation – 3rd September 1992.
A Public Limited Liability Company listed on the
Colombo Stock Exchange with BOI status.
The Company was re-registered under the Companies
Act No.7 of 2007 on 22 May 2008 and the Company
Registration No. is PQ 151.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND NATURE OF
OPERATIONS
The principal activities of the Company was the
developments of the property located at No.90, Galle
Road, Colombo 03 & activities relating property
Management .

PARENT ENTERPRISE
The Company's parent undertaking is Seylan
Bank PLC.

